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Our vision is for ethical, 
inclusive, robust, and 
sustainable public interest 
organisations working to 
increase social justice and 
eliminate poverty and inequality, 
supported by a strong 
philanthropic movement.
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We are excited about the 
journey ahead and look forward 
to providing a service that will 
contribute to a robust civil 
society and the growth of an 
inclusive democracy where 
poverty and inequality will 
receive our prioritised attention. 
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Mission

 Inyathelo is committed to the establishment of a 
strong democracy and stable civil society in South 
Africa and the African continent. We work with 
non-profi t organisations, education institutions, 
philanthropists, corporates, governments, and 
international agencies and play a key role in 
advocating for social justice and ethical governance.

 We contribute to skills development and research 
that underpins sustainable organisations in civil 
society. Inyathelo provides high quality training, 
and supports collaboration, innovation and 
professionalism in resource mobilisation, grant 
seeking and grant management. 

 We create enabling environments by providing 
support services, information sharing and dialogue, 
encouraging government, corporate and individual 
giving, thereby growing sustainable philanthropic 
ventures with lasting impact. 

Values

Respect
We believe all people should have dignity and the right 
to self-determination. 

Commitment
We are committed to positively impacting on the 
organisations and institutions we serve, to fulfi lling 
our duties and responsibilities, and delivering on 
our promises in the best way we can and to be 
accountable in all we do. 

The realisation of Inyathelo, the South African Institute 
for Advancement, in its current form was due to an 
extraordinary vision, mission and strategic orientation. 
The founders of Inyathelo – Shelagh Gastrow, Patric 
Tariq Mellet and Gabrielle Ritchie –knew precisely what 
they wanted to achieve and were successful. At the 
start of my tenure in 2019, the mission, vision and 
strategy of Inyathelo had been in place since 2013 
and had become somewhat staid. Our board, together 
with Inyathelo staff , felt that the appointment of a new 
Executive Director presented an appropriate time to 
take stock and review our strategic direction.

During 2019, we embarked on an inclusive, soul-
searching refl ection of our value as an organisation 
and our accomplishments and challenges to date. Our 
staff , board members, associates, partners and clients 
were invited to participate and by the end of 2019, 
we had drafted a strategy which was approved by our 
board. I am pleased to present our revised vison and 
mission statements and our strategic objectives and 
outcomes for 2022-2026. We are excited about the 
journey ahead and look forward to providing a service 
that will contribute to a robust civil society and the 
growth of an inclusive democracy where poverty and 
inequality will receive our prioritised attention. 

Vision

Ethical, inclusive, robust, and sustainable public 
interest organisations working to increase social 
justice and eliminate poverty and inequality, supported 
by a strong philanthropic movement.

V I S I O N ,  M I S S I O N  A N D 
S T R AT E G I C  O B J E C T I V E S

We are committed to positively impacting 
on the organisations and institutions 
we serve, to fulfi lling our duties and 
responsibilities, and delivering on our 
promises in the best way we can and to 
be accountable in all we do.
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Strategic objectives

The professionalisation of Advancement is to be 
encouraged through:
 Support for communities of practice.
 Growing quality-assured curricula in Inyathelo’s 

Institute for Advancement for nonprofi t organisations 
and schools, colleges and universities.

 A partnership with the Centre on African 
Philanthropy and Social Inclusion (CAPSI) at Wits 
University, to off er accredited postgraduate courses 
in resource mobilisation and philanthropy.

The establishment of a governance assessment 
facility and performance improvement service related 
to King IV and the Independent Code of Governance.

The establishment of an Advocacy and Connectivity 
Hub for Social Justice Organisations.

Increasing resources related to African civil society 
and the global south to Inyathelo’s resource/
knowledge management hub. 

The establishment of a programme to grow youth in 
philanthropy in South Africa and across the 
African continent.

To put in place measures that grow community 
philanthropy.

Integrity
We act ethically with openness, honesty and trust and 
work continuously to build relationships of trust and 
act against all forms of dishonesty. 

Equity, diversity and inclusion
We strive to be compassionate, fair and just to 
all those we meet and work with; and to support 
and include communities marginalised due to 
class, ability, sexual orientation, gender, cultural 
identities, ethnicity, religious affiliations, race and 
geographical location.

Collaboration and transformation
We build partnerships that power social change and 
enable equal access to economic, political, and social 
rights opportunities for all.

Learning
We support lifelong learning and personal 
development that builds an awareness of self and our 
interconnectedness and the capacity to act in the 
public interest. 

Intergenerational connectedness
We recognize that the world is experiencing 
accelerating change, creating generational discord. 
We foster bridges across generations that facilitate 
mutual sharing of lived experiences, building 
successional leadership for an eff ective civil society.

We support lifelong learning and personal development that builds an awareness of 
self and our interconnectedness and the capacity to act in the public interest.
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In physics, the formula for work is work = force x 
distance.  In 2020, this formula appears to have 
changed dramatically. Of course, I say this tongue in 
cheek! For some of us, our formula was work equals a 
chair plus a computer plus a cup of coff ee plus Wi-Fi 
or data multiplied by zero distance. We were sedentary 
and stuck in our chairs in cordoned off  spaces that 
were in many cases the outcomes of sophisticated 
negotiations with spouses and children.  

Notions of work have been radically transformed 
and redefi ned in the pandemic. For a section of the 
workforce, work in hard lockdown was home and home 
was work. For others, going to work was like entering 
a minefi eld, working outside of the sanctity of home, 
confronting risk in a bid to heal, feed, clean, nurture, 
support, educate, protect, care, and also survive. 

The coronavirus, however, has not only impacted on 
how we work, but it has also resulted in loss of work. 
South Africa’s unemployment rate increased to 34% 
and exacerbated already high levels of poverty and 
inequality, which in turn have had wide-reaching social 
ramifi cations. One of these is diminished access to 
education, which not only has implications for our 
development as a country in terms of skills development 
and knowledge generation, but also because achieving 
high levels of education in South Africa still counts as a 
primary means for exiting poverty. 

Wealth indicators thus now, more than ever before, 
determine access to quality education and the 
possibility of success during the pandemic. Our 

ability to buy data and technology, have a space to 
study at home and access the necessary nutrition 
required for eff ective learning are variables that 
enable access and lead to higher chances of 
success. In this context, the work of the National 
Association of Social Change Entities in Education 
(NASCEE) and the National Learning Trust (NLT), 
umbrella bodies, constituted of strong and impactful 
nonprofi t organisations supporting educators and 
learners in schools is greatly valued. It is important 
that these organisations continue to be supported 
for the role they play. Inyathelo is proud to be a 
service partner to both organisations.

Universities too have had to review the access and 
success of university students through the Pandemic. 
Prof Bawa, the Chief Executive Offi  cer of Universities 
South Africa (USAf), notes in his contribution to 
this annual report that the higher education system 

A  Y E A R  O F  C H A L L E N G E S 
A N D  D I F F I C U LT I E S , 
B U T  A L S O  O P P O R T U N I T I E S

Nazeema Mohamed
Executive Director, Inyathelo

The coronavirus has not only impacted 
on how we work, but it has also 
resulted in loss of work. South Africa’s 
unemployment rate increased to 34% 
and exacerbated already high levels 
of poverty and inequality, which in 
turn have had wide-reaching social 
ramifi cations.
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several focal points that will improve our support to 
the sector in governance. These include more focused 
support on risk management and disaster recovery; 
training of boards on equity, diversity and inclusion; 
and the development of an assessment tool that 
is linked to signatories of the Independent Code of 
Governance for Non-profi ts in South Africa.

Three contributions in this annual report deal with 
equity, diversity and inclusion. Alan Richter, founding 
member of the Centre for Global Inclusion, speaks to 
the recent launch of the Global, Diversity, Equity and 
Inclusion Benchmarks (GDEIB), the fourth edition of a 
document begun in 2006.  He notes 275 benchmarks 
developed by 112 expert panelists from across the 
world and discusses the evolution of the document, 
the various approaches to DEI, and in particular the 
impact that movements advocating antiracism, 
decolonisation, gender equity, LGBTIQ+ rights and 

was severely strained by the pandemic as it had 
experienced constant disruption since 2008. He 
views collaboration and refl ection in the sector as 
measures utilised by universities to support learners 
and save the academic year. While universities were 
more equipped than schools to transition to online 
platforms, the challenges confronting universities 
were the same as with schools. Access to data, 
technology and a place to study were signifi cant 
challenges to learners from low-income groups. 

Several initiatives have been put in place by USAf, 
universities have met with philanthropies to access 
their support and USAf has promoted a Community of 
Practice for Advancement and Development Offi  ces. In 
2020, Inyathelo signed a service level agreement with 
USAf’s education arm, Higher Education Leadership 
Management (HELM), to train managers in universities 
on Advancement practices.

The pandemic has been a humanitarian crisis. It 
has robbed us of loved ones, colleagues, friends 
and livelihoods. It has taken away all that is joyous 
and eroded the few human rights that impoverished 
communities have. Mental health and wellbeing are 
at low levels and the pandemic has intensifi ed fatigue 
and anguish. 

Despite the dreariness and harshness of our times, we 
have also seen innovation, resilience and the power of 
the human spirit, appreciating more than ever what 
it means to be human and what we have lost. The 
opportunity to work with civil society organisations 
has been a privilege but also a matter of concern as 
we have seen organisations buckle under fi nancial 
strain. Boards of nonprofi t organisations have had 
to step up as organisations struggle through crises. 
The refl ections of Merlinda Abrahams, Inyathelo board 
member, speaks to the ways in which leaders have had 
to show up. She raises the need to fully understand 
the changing nature of work and the implications 
for human resource management. This point is also 
strongly made by Alan Richter in his discussion on 
diversity, equity and inclusion.

Our non-profi t report shows the increase in requests 
to Inyathelo for board training during this period. 
Conversations with board members in organisations 
we have trained have highlighted the challenges 
confronted by boards and pointed to the need 
for more support. As a consequence of these 
organisations, our programming team has identifi ed 

The GDEIB spells out what good, better, 
and best work looks like. It readily 
frames where and how an organisation 
can focus its capabilities to reach 
best practices.
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climate justice over the past fi ve years have had on 
the development of a social justice approach which 
includes equity in diversity and inclusion work. He 
speaks of the emergence of artifi cial intelligence and 
the implications of building bias into technological 
solutions – a point which is backed up by Tshepo 
Mothiba’s note on inaccessible telehealth tools for 
those who are blind and visually impaired. 

Contributions by Tshepo Mothiba and Mdudize 
Dube cover the inordinate obstacles confronted by 
people living with disabilities during the pandemic.  
Mothiba quotes the Offi  ce of the United Nations 
High Commissioner for Human Rights indicating 
that “though the Covid-19 pandemic endangered all 
members of society, persons with disabilities have 
been disproportionately impacted due to attitudinal, 
environmental, and institutional barriers that are 
reproduced in Covid-19 interventions.” 

Mdudize Dube, Managing Director, Autism Western 
Cape, notes similar concerns and speaks to the 
barriers and stigma experienced by persons on the 
autism spectrum. He describes the multiple ways 
in which Autism Western Cape has dealt with the 
challenges of reaching their client base during the 
pandemic. He notes the use of social media and 
technology platforms for communication and the 
ways these have assisted in extending the reach 
of the organisation. The use of an online course 
on autism, identifi cation of local advocates and a 
counselling service have also been valuable support 
measures. Lobbying and advocacy for improvement 
in policy and support by government have also been a 
critical part of their strategy.

Yasmina Francke’s article on the philanthropic 
support provided by the South African National 
Zakáh Fund is a reminder of the core principles of 
Advancement advocated by Inyathelo over the past 

Despite the dreariness and harshness of 
our times, we have also seen innovation, 
resilience and the power of the human 
spirit, appreciating more than ever what 
it means to be human.
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21 years. She highlights the importance of staying 
true to purpose; possessing relevant and responsive 
strategy aligned to vision, mission and values; and 
clear communication, staff  support and relationship 
building as critical factors for organisational 
resilience. The article provides important tools for 
working in a state of disaster. It emphasises fl exibility, 
collaboration, clear communication, and support for 
the team. It also speaks to balancing the urgency for 
fl exible responses with the need for good governance, 
accountability and remaining true to values. 

What has 2020 meant for Inyathelo? It was a 
challenging and diffi  cult year but also one fi lled with 
opportunity. We reviewed programming capacity and 
utilised the skills of our staff  in innovative and creative 
ways. Care and support to staff  enabled a stronger 
team with all staff  members working out of their 
comfort zones and meeting challenges presented 
to them. We suff ered the loss of two dear friends 
to Inyathelo, Karima Brown and our trustee Tom 
Winslow. Karima gave selfl essly of herself in our data 
campaign. She was a brilliant journalist and social 
justice activist.  We miss her humour, intellect and 
compassion. Tom Winslow was an incredible support 
to Inyathelo staff .  He was an accomplished fundraiser 
with international experience in the fundraising world.  
Tom trained our staff  on resource mobilisation and 
helped us properly align our strategic objectives with 
our budget and resource mobilisation plan. Tom’s 
challenging persona, contributions and memory live 
on in Inyathelo. 

Inyathelo is deeply grateful and appreciative for the 
contributions and invaluable services of all who have 
worked on the frontline. 

This is a time to reinforce, not lesson, 
international commitments to civic 
space and democratic values more 
generally.

S AS K I A  B R E C H E N M AC H E R ,  T H O M AS  C A R O T H E R S  

A N D  R I C H A R D  YO U N G S ;  C A R N E G I E  E N D O W M E N T 

FO R  I N T E R N AT I O N A L  P E AC E
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We at Inyathelo sincerely thank our friends who have supported the organisation during the 2021 fi nancial 
year. Your commitment has made a real diff erence at a time that has been challenging for many nonprofi t 
organisations. We could not do our work without you – thank you so much.

Donors and Supporters of Inyathelo and/or the #keepconnecting data campaign 

Feryal Domingo
Genex Insights
Israel Noko – NPI Governance Consulting (Pty) Ltd
Judy Bryant
Lunga Newman
Merlinda Abrahams
Nazeema Mohamed

Nomvula Dlamini
Saila Joonas
Soraya Joonas
Thandwa Mthembu
Thomas Winslow
Viola Manuel

D O N O R S  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 2 1

Grant foundation and support

The Kresge Foundation
US Embassy through United States-South Africa Higher Education Network.

THANK YOU!

We could not do our work without you.
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Thomas Winslow

The passing in January 2021 of Board member and 
friend of Inyathelo, Tom Winslow, was a sad day for us 
and the many others whose lives he touched. 

During his two years as a Board member with 
Inyathelo, Tom generously shared his rich experience 
of resource mobilisation gained over 30 years at 
both a local and international level. His deep insights 
came from his work at Oxfam Great Britain, Save 
the Children UK, and Action Aid International. He 
combined this expertise with local knowledge from 
his work with NPOs such as the Legal Resources 
Centre and the Trauma Centre for Survivors of 

Violence and Torture, which he co-founded. Tom 
started his career in fundraising at Cowley House in 
District Six, two streets away from Inyathelo’s offi  ces. 
When he became a Board member of Inyathelo he 
said, “In a sense, it feels like I’ve come full circle, 
back to my roots.”

Tom was a passionate advocate for deepening, 
extending and professionalising resource mobilisation 
at NPOs, in order to build long-term fi nancial 
sustainability. He was a natural match for Inyathelo, 
given its mission and values in the non-profi t sector, 
and his insights were highly valued.

T R I B U T E S
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Karima Brown

Inyathelo was deeply saddened at the news of 
the passing of veteran journalist Karima Brown, 
from Covid-19, on 4 March 2021. Karima’s deep 
involvement and political education in movements 
striving for social justice turned her into a courageous 
and insightful political journalist. Karima anchored 
eNCA’s weekly show ‘The Fix’ and was a regular 
political analyst on the channel. Her career included 
several senior media positions, among them political 
editor of Business Day, group executive editor at 
Independent Media, and host of a 702 radio show. 

Karima had links spanning many decades with several 
of Inyathelo’s managerial team and Board members. 
Karima and Nazeema Mohamed, Executive Director of 
Inyathelo, were both youth leaders in the Cape Youth 
Congress where they not only challenged apartheid 
but also gender-based violence and gender inequality. 
Nazeema accordingly invited Karima, together with 
drama activists Warren Nebe and the Healers, to 
champion Inyathelo’s #keepconnecting campaign, set 
up to raise funds for data for non-profi t organisations. 

Karima was a keynote speaker at the Zoom launch 
of the #KeepConnecting data fundraising campaign, 
during which she spoke about early community-based 
activist meetings. Inyathelo extends its heartfelt 
condolences to Karima’s family and friends. She was 
a fi ghter to the end, and her passing is a loss not only 
for her many associates but also for South Africa.

Vartan Gregorian

The Carnegie Corporation of New York has been a 
major American philanthropic supporter of higher 
education in Africa for over two decades and has 
enjoyed a long relationship with institutions of 
learning in Cape Town, and Inyathelo.

It is accordingly with great sadness, but also gratitude, 
that Inyathelo remembers Vartan Gregorian, the 
long-time head of the Carnegie Corporation. Born in 
northern Iran, Vartan was an American immigrant who 
rose to become a highly respected and charismatic 
scholar and educator. As a fundraiser with Carnegie he 
mobilised millions of dollars for causes that included 
assisting immigrants, improving education of girls, 
and reducing the threat of nuclear weapons. Carnegie 
was Inyathelo’s fi rst programme funding partner for 
the training of its university grantees in South Africa. 
From there, Carnegie partnered with Inyathelo on 
specifi c training for women in fundraising in African 
universities and later towards Advancement and 
development research in higher education. 

The Case handbook was a product of a two year 
programme of Advancement training for African 
universities funded by the Carnegie Corporation. 
This handbook explored the progress played 
by educational institutions in the context of 
Advancement, budgetary pressures, alumni 
programmes and institutional support.
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We are living through one of the greatest crises we will 
ever experience in our lifetimes. We must never forget 
the devastating impact that the global Covid-19 
pandemic is having on society, with the enormous 
disruption it is causing and the tragic loss of life. 
Most of us know a friend or family member who has 
succumbed to Covid-19, and I extend my condolences 
to those who have lost loved ones.

In the midst of this turmoil, it is helpful to be reminded 
of Einstein’s observation that in every great crisis 
there is also a great opportunity. So, while the 
pandemic has exposed fault lines globally, nationally 
and at a community level, it has also shown our 
adaptability and resilience. It has helped us to forge 
new bonds of solidarity across our divided societies. 

What has made Covid-19 so deadly is that it preys on 
the most vulnerable in our society, particularly those 
with co-morbidities and underlying preconditions. 
This is such a cruel metaphor for our society because 
inequality, poverty and gender-based violence are all 
co-morbidities that exacerbate the myriad challenges 

that we need to overcome if we want to create a 
more caring and inclusive society. In the same way 
that the pandemic preys on our human frailties, it 
also preys on the underlying conditions in society. If 
we are going to learn anything from Covid-19, at its 
most fundamental level it is about reimagining and 
remaking our world. It is the realisation that these 
inequalities are unsustainable. Not only are they a 
sore blight on our society, not only do they cause 
untold harm on the most vulnerable in our society, 
but they are also a painful reminder of our past. 
We cannot only respond to Covid-19 by developing 
vaccines and breakthrough medical interventions, we 
must also develop new policies on how we treat the 
social ills in our society.

Yes, we are resilient and we will in all likelihood 
survive Covid-19, but if we were a more equal society, 
we would have transitioned faster and better and 
emerged a stronger community. But as things stand, 
we go into the future with so many uncertainties, 
carrying many wounds and scars that will take 
generations to heal. 

T I M E  F O R  A  N E W  O R D E R

Dr Russell Ally
Chairperson, Inyathelo Board of Trustees

In the midst of every crisis, 
lies great opportunity.
A L B E R T  E I N S T E I N
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As much as Covid-19 has impacted 
society as a whole, it has also been 
a particularly diffi  cult time for the 
nonprofi t sector. Many organisations 
have closed, let staff  go, and downscaled 
their activities and programmes.

Sector under siege

As much as Covid-19 has impacted society as a 
whole, it has also been a particularly diffi  cult time 
for the nonprofi t sector. Many organisations have 
closed, let staff  go, and downscaled their activities 
and programmes. This in turn has weakened the 
ability of people to respond to the crisis, because the 
nonprofi t sector and community-based organisations 
often are the fi rst line of defence for many vulnerable 
communities in a period of disaster. For many therefore, 
this fi rst line of defence itself has been removed.

Inyathelo is in the very fortunate position that it 
is still able to operate despite these very diffi  cult 
conditions. The organisation views itself as having a 
duty and responsibility not only to survive, but also 
to be a resource for civil society. Inyathelo wants 
to continue to be a hub for the sector, making its 
experience, expertise and resources available to civil 

society. The organisation has the potential not only to 
support nonprofi ts and other institutions, but also to 
contribute to a revival of the sector and, together with 
its partners, to rethink and reimagine what the civil 
society sector can look like despite the current harsh 
reality of a global pandemic.

It is evident that the world as we knew it will never be 
the same. We speak about a ‘new normal’ emerging, 
or ‘business unusual’ as the new reality, and this is 
probably true. But we need to think beyond these 
catch-all phrases and start boldly reimagining a new 
world, and a new way of living in this world. 

The danger of these glib descriptions is that they 
can easily continue to conceal the inequalities that 
exist. Instead we now need to be bold enough to think 
beyond the ‘new normal’ and embrace a new way of 
living in which inclusivity, equality, dignity and the 
sanctity of life are valued.
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Viola Manuel

Some of the challenges faced by Inyathelo this last 
year were faced by many organisations. The main 
issues that Covid-19 brought were reduction in 
income, less focus on growth, more focus on survival 
and fi nally the challenge of the staff  and stakeholders’ 
mental health and overall wellness through this very 
diffi  cult time of uncertainty and loss. The actions of 
the executive, the staff  and the board included taking 
strong decisions, engaging in robust discussions 
around these decisions, providing for mental health 
days, respecting each other’s viewpoints on how 
the organisation would survive the ordeal, and the 
strength of all involved to keep going and not give up. 

Russell Ally

Inyathelo is in the very fortunate position that it 
is still able to operate despite these very diffi  cult 
conditions. The organisation views itself as having a 
duty and responsibility not only to survive, but also 
to be a resource for civil society. Inyathelo wants 
to continue to be a hub for the sector, making its 
experience, expertise and resources available to civil 
society. The organisation has the potential not only to 
support nonprofi ts and other institutions, but also to 
contribute to a revival of the sector and, together with 
its partners, to rethink and reimagine what the civil 
society sector can look like despite the current harsh 
reality of a global pandemic.

Nomvula Dlamini

Covid-19 created a new reality for all of us (individuals, 
organisations, institutions, communities and the 
broader society). In response to the challenges the 
pandemic presented, civil society organisations and 
formations had to change the way they engage with 

T R U S T E E  F E E D B A C K  O N  T H E 
I M PA C T  O F  C O V I D - 1 9

In the context of the Covid-19 pandemic, and the 
general challenges facing NPO operations, Inyathelo 
asked its trustees, “Given your particular focus and 
expertise as a trustee on the Inyathelo board the past 
fi nancial year, what were the main threats you saw 
to Inyathelo, and how were these navigated?” Their 
responses follow.

Viola Manuel

Nomvula Dlamini

Russell Ally
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each other, ways of meeting and working. Inyathelo 
is a hub for civil society organisations – it is a space 
of learning, of meeting, of conversations that are 
important for solidarity actions. With restrictions 
on gatherings, not being able to bring practitioners, 
leaders and activists physically together for much 
needed conversations and refl ection, Inyathelo 
adapted its practices and moved to work remotely. It 
used online approaches to facilitate conversations. 
Like many others, the organisation invested in 
cloud applications like Zoom and MS Teams to bring 
practitioners and organisations together. In addition 
to adapting to working remotely, the organisation had 
to navigate and manage the uncertainty of not being 
able to plan in advance. In response, the organisation 
slowed down, staff  slowed down and focused on those 
things that mattered most. To help staff  members 
deal with the uncertainty, the organisation did not 
make any staff  redundant – staff  salaries were cut for 
a period of time to help the organisation cope. 

Israel Noko

The COVID-19 pandemic had a major eff ect on our 
lives. Many of us are facing challenges that can be 
stressful, overwhelming, and cause strong emotions 
in adults and children. To meet the challenges posed 
by the pandemic, organisations like Inyathelo had 
to react in agile and decisive ways. As we move into 
the next phase, now is the time for the NPO sector to 
seek out and seize the opportunities emerging in the 
recovery. This involves conducting an “after-action 
review” to collect data and insights on lessons learned 
from the pandemic, and then using these to prioritise 
actions to enhance societal value today and build 
strategic resilience for tomorrow. 

Merlinda Abrahams

March 2020 brought the global pandemic which 
impacted on many organisations, Inyathelo not 
excluded. As we know, one of the biggest eff ects of the 
pandemic was the impact on people in organisations, 
and how to keep people feeling engaged and 
connected. The Inyathelo team did an incredible job 
of staying conscious of banding together, remaining 
focused on their purpose, stepping into roles and 
areas of delivery that might have been new to them, 
and co-creating solutions together. The Inyathelo 
team led from the front, steering their team through 
a challenging time, and continuing to re-build as they 
adapt to a changing world. Merlinda Abrahams

Israel Noko
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Bayanda Gumbi
Database Offi  cer

The transition to working from home due to Covid-19 
has been challenging. A signifi cant part of my work 
is internet-intense since I also upload/download and 
update fi les on the server. It’s a must to have a stable 
and fast internet connection. I was so concerned that 
working from home might impact on my ability to 
deliver on time, but through the constant interaction 
with my colleagues, we continue to help each other 
through this challenging time. I learnt a few things 
about myself and that being knowledgeable about IT 
platforms and technology is crucial in the successful 
delivery of Inyathelo’s work to its clients and potential 
clients under the circumstances, as we shifted away 
from face-to-face meetings.

Cassandra Smith
Finance Co-ordinator 

I had to get used to the confi ned space at home, 
converting a room to an offi  ce. This Incurred extra 
expenses such as an increased Wi-Fi package, 
an increase in my electricity bills, and more water 
consumption, as well as more cellphone usage for 
work-related phone calls. Working from home led to 
overworking from home. I rarely took a lunch break 
and was unable to turn off  my job responsibilities 
at the end of the day. There was also a lack of 
connecting with my colleagues on a daily basis. I 
navigated this by keeping the same routine as if I 
was going to work, which helped to normalise the 
day. Eventually I had to identify my working hours and 
had to stick to them, because if there was something 

S TA F F
F E E D B A C K

From the top, left to right: Bayanda Gumbi, Cassandra Smith, Feryal Domingo, Hoeyaam Majiet, Jacques Swart, Jocelyn Collins, Nazeema Mohamed, Nomawethu Maselana, 
Sandra de Jongh, Soraya Joonas and Suzanne Solomons.
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of the co-workers, and tenants who use the space, 
and the venue hire clients. We were able to swiftly 
implement all required health and safety measures, 
due to a budget line item being made available. 

There were also many other small changes in the way 
I personally approach my work. I fi nd that since the 
inception of the Covid-19 lockdown, work hours have 
increased. I fi nd that where in the past one had a 
specifi c cut-off  time, working from home usually fi nds 
you working till well after the end of the business day. 

Hopefully, we are moving to an end of the Covid-19 
pandemic. However I truly believe we will never again 
go back to the way we used to work, and we will see 
even more changes in this “new normal”.

Jocelyn Collins
Programme Offi  cer

The biggest challenge was adapting to working from 
home and working “normal” hours when all focus 
could not be on work alone. Family responsibilities 
also required attention due to circumstances 
created by Covid-19. Finding a balance was the most 
challenging. It seemed that everything was important 
all the time and it wasn’t really about navigating but 
more of doing what needed to be done. I feel the 
resilience and supportive nature of colleagues is what 
helped “navigate” challenges.

Nazeema Mohamed
Executive Director 

The pandemic has left a profound mark on the 
workplace, leaving no doubt that our work lives will 
never be the same again. How we meet and conduct 
our work has changed dramatically. We have become 
more effi  cient with online platforms evolving at a 
remarkable pace and presenting new and wonderful 
opportunities for outreach, learning and working 
remotely. While we are learning about what works 
on virtual platforms, we are also thinking ahead to 
how we will work after the pandemic. I am trying to 
reimagine contact and not take it for granted. 

At the onset of Covid-19, Inyathelo acted swiftly. The 
Board and Executive Management Team collaborated 
on a strategy that would keep staff  safe and allow 
programmatic work to continue. We transitioned to 
online platforms in a seamless manner; amending 
our training off erings so that they would be more 

that I was working on, I would just carry on until it 
was done. I connected with my colleagues virtually 
when the need arose, and this helped with keeping 
the social connection.

Feryal Domingo
Operations Director 

We had been talking about working remotely for some 
time, and didn’t quite get to advance such an idea, 
for a number of reasons. Then a hard lockdown was 
implemented in South Africa, and there was no time to 
think about how things would work, except the safety 
of the staff , their families, our clients, co-workers and 
tenants. The lack of a developed contingency plan to 
deal with a 100% remote work situation gave me an 
instant migraine. We were just getting into a fl ow with 
a new board in place, a strategy in the fi nal stage of 
development, and building the team under the direction 
of a fairly new leader. The migraine became more real. 
With an “all hands-on deck” approach and a culture of 
“we are all in this together”, the transition to a virtual/
tele-working situation became more do-able and 
appealing. Learning new ways of doing as a team, to keep 
the fl ame burning, through very new virtual platforms 
spiked my passion in the work that we exist to do, even 
further. The migraine disappeared completely and the 
grey cloud lifted and opened up to a blue sky. 

Hoeyaam Majiet
Receptionist/HR Administrator

We are still navigating some tough times. Working 
in constant ‘crisis mode’ at the beginning of the 
Covid-19 pandemic was hard, but as a team we found 
our way of working online together. It taught us new 
capabilities and new ways in which to accomplish our 
work goals in a positive, helpful way.

Jacques Swart
Operations Coordinator 

Finding a quick solution to maintain business 
continuity in a cost-eff ective and effi  cient way, 
and ensuring a user-friendly system for the staff  
to remain in contact, save information and stay 
in touch with customers and service providers, 
was a challenge. We approached this challenge 
in a collaborative manner with all the colleagues 
participating in exploring the desired solutions – 
going online/virtual overnight was one of the big 
items. We also had to focus on ensuring the safety 
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scenario planning and increased fi nancial governance. 
This was paired with the need to completely convert 
our in-person audit to a seamless remote one. 
I was able to overcome this challenge by embracing 
the need to be nimble and quick in our conversion to 
online fi nancial and audit processes. The processing 
technology of our auditors also assisted with this. 

The fi nancial systems that we already had in place 
provided a solid foundation from which to convert. 
Additional guidance was provided by our helpful 
fi nance sub-committee. Mostly however, I was able to 
navigate these challenges through the scaff olding of 
the amazing colleagues that I work with through their 
work ethic, fl exibility, care, understanding and desire 
to lift those around them. Being surrounded by strong 
and committed talent can never be underestimated…
and now we are on a new fi nancial paperless journey 
that we are enjoying!

Suzanne Solomons
Assistant to the Executive Director 

Working from home, and balancing home and work 
life, was an adjustment for the whole family. For me as 
a mom, being home yet not being available to play or 
talk, was a struggle for all of us. Trying to do my work 
and still having to make sure my son stayed focused 
on his schoolwork was challenging too. When we fi rst 
started with our online meetings he was so curious, 
wanting to say hi and see who was talking. He’s also 
an only child so struggled with feeling lonely often. 
We tried to navigate these challenges with structure, 
keeping to a daily routine and trying to do as many 
things together as possible.

suitable to a virtual platform. We embraced Zoom 
and Microsoft Teams and these tools assisted with 
online delivery. We thought through the pedagogical 
challenges of learning online and, in general, we 
feel our training has been successful and a blended 
learning system, combining remote learning and 
contact session, in the future would be valuable. We 
received useful and encouraging feedback from our 
clients regarding our online training and the positive 
feedback grew interest and brought on more requests. 

The hardship of the pandemic for me personally was 
being infected by the virus and being ill for three 
weeks. It was a diffi  cult time because I was scared 
for myself and my family. I also felt blessed because 
I could isolate quite easily and Inyathelo staff  were 
supportive, caring and went the extra mile to check 
in on me. Fundraising during the pandemic has not 
been easy because of cuts in budgets and changes 
in priorities. At Inyathelo we made salary sacrifi ces. 
All have lost loved ones and suff ered the horror of the 
pandemic. The physical, emotional, and mental impact 
of this virus continues to claw at our wellbeing. It will 
be wonderful to go back to a life that allows contact 
with hugs, laughter and shared intimacy. 

Nomawethu Maselana
Offi  ce Maintenance

It wasn’t easy, but we tried. Everything was so diffi  cult, 
from travelling to work on public transport with social 
distancing, to helping family members. However we 
have been fortunate because we still have work and 
for now we are fi ne.

Sandra de Jongh
Offi  ce Maintenance

It’s been a diffi  cult year, but we have pressed on. The 
hardest thing was not seeing my colleagues, whom 
I missed. Fortunately we now have activities such as 
workshops which are keeping me busy.

Soraya Joonas
Finance Director

On the day of the onset of lockdown, we entered 
into our annual external fi nancial audit. What is 
normally an intensive period for the fi nance offi  ce, 
was magnifi ed by the pandemic and the competing 
demands of being agile and responding to the needs 
of the sector, our own urgent organisational fi nancial 

The pandemic has left a profound mark on 
the workplace, leaving no doubt that our 
work lives will never be the same again. 
How we meet and conduct our work has 
changed dramatically. We have become 
more effi  cient with online platforms evolving 
at a remarkable pace and presenting new 
and wonderful opportunities for outreach, 
learning and working remotely.
N A Z E E M A  M O H A M E D
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PLEASE
WEAR

FACE MASKS
FOR EVERYONE’S PROTECTION

Covid-19's adverse impact has highlighted the deep-seated societal 
inequalities emanating from, among other things, perpetual discriminatory 
practices against vulnerable groups, particularly persons with disabilities.
T S H E P O  M O T H I B A ,  Independent Transformation and Disability Specialist 
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Earlier this year, The Centre for Global Inclusion 
launched the latest edition of the Global Diversity, 
Equity and Inclusion Benchmarks (GDEIB). This was 
the fourth edition of a document begun in 2006, and 
revised and updated every fi ve years, as the fi eld of 
DEI keeps evolving. For our fourth edition we added a 
third co-author, Nene Molefi , from the Global South, 
and enlarged our Expert Panellists (EPs) to 112. For 
the fi rst time, the majority were not from the USA 
or North America. The GDEIB’s 275 benchmarks 
encompass 15 categories with fi ve progression levels: 
Inactive, Reactive, Proactive, Progressive, and Best 

Practices. The GDEIB spells out what good, better, and 
best work looks like. It readily frames where and how 
an organisation can focus its capabilities to reach 
best practices. It is off ered at no cost to users, so long 
as they sign a user agreement. The past fi ve years 
have seen much change and evolution in the fi eld. For 
one thing, we changed the name of the benchmarks 
from GDIB to GDEIB, adding the important term 
Equity into the title, but not just into the title, but 
also weaving it throughout all the categories. The 
backdrop to this change has been the key societal 
movements and drivers such as Black Lives Matter 

C H A N G E  A N D  E V O L U T I O N  I N  D I V E R S I T Y,  E Q U I T Y 
A N D  I N C L U S I O N  B E N C H M A R K S

Dr Alan Richter
Treasurer, The Centre For Global Inclusion

Bold actions 
are needed to 
communicate clearly 
to all stakeholders how 
adamant organisations 
are in addressing
discrimination, 
inequity, and exclusion.
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of working conditions and benefi ts will be a necessity 
for all organisations as we redefi ne decent work. By 
comparison with the last major worldwide pandemic 
of 1918, just over one hundred years ago, the 
contrasts are signifi cant. As awful as Covid-19 has 
been so far, at this time around 4-5 million people 
have died worldwide. This contrasts with between 50 
and 100 million deaths back in 1918-1919. And back 
then, there were no available vaccines, and no internet 
to enable virtual work.

The third theme that our GDEIB attempts to 
incorporate into the new benchmarks is the 
unstoppable march into artifi cial intelligence as it 
encroaches on our lives in so many ways including 
the workplace and work in general. Artifi cial 
intelligence is based on algorithms and the challenge 
is de-biasing these algorithms so that we can get 
objective decision-making that is fair and equitable. 
One obvious example, of many, is in recruitment, 
hence one of the GDEIB’s best practices is: When 
technological solutions are used for recruitment, 
the organisation implements practices to minimise 
or remove algorithmic bias. The advancement of 
technology may appear to be great – think simply of 
the impact of vaccines in this pandemic. However, we 
typically think of technology as being neutral – that 
is, it can be used for good or evil – to vastly produce 
carbon emissions, and to vastly reduce carbon 
emissions, to give but one critical example – so it 
isn’t the technology itself but the ethical decisions 
we make with it that matters. Similarly with artifi cial 
intelligence, technology can vastly expand the scope 
of biased systems or it can be used smartly to de-bias 
the systems in the fi rst place. 

What is interesting is that technology can and 
does change our global frameworks, and hence the 
conversations we have about ethics, equity and 
inclusion in the long run. Think about some of the 
very painful conversations stretched throughout 
human history – slavery, abortion, meat production 
to name a few – and consider how appropriate 
technology may change our framework and how 
we thenceforth judge matters. How did automation 
impact farming and slavery? How did the pill 
impact attitudes and beliefs about sexuality and 
reproduction? And if soon technology will enable the 
sustainable and aff ordable production of “meatless” 
meat, will we start to judge carnivores quite 
diff erently? Diversity, equity and inclusion are, and 
should be, wrapped up in all these discussions.

seen tragically in the context of the brutal murder of 
George Floyd, along with the global United Against 
Racism movement, as well as responding to the 
rising anti-Asian hatred in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic, the #metoo and #timesup movements in 
response to sexual predators, and other broad equity 
initiatives such as decolonisation, climate justice and 
the disturbing growth of inequality heightened by the 
consequences of the pandemic.

In our GDEIB we refer to the fi ve Approaches to DEI: 
Competence, Compliance, Dignity, Organisational 
Development and Social Justice. What we have 
witnessed in the past fi ve years is the growth of the 
importance of the Social Justice approach across DEI 
work regardless of the nature of the organisation.

A second key theme, addressed in the new GDEIB, 
that emerged more recently in the past fi ve years, 
is directly related to the pandemic – the changing 
nature of work, and the workplace. Where fl exible 
work arrangements were a nice to have benefi t pre-
pandemic, today, and henceforth, virtual work and 
hybrid working will be the norm. Hence the rethinking 

APPROACHES TO DEI

� ADVOCATING FOR SOCIAL JUSTICE
 Focuses on achieving fairness and equity locally and globally
� BUILDING COMPETENCE
 Focuses on increasing the DEI competence of individuals
� HONOURING DIGNITY
 Focuses on secular, religious, or spiritual recognition of the value 
 and interdependence of every human being
� DEVELOPING THE ORGANISATION
 Focuses systemically on improving organisational performance
� BEING IN COMPLIANCE
 Focuses on adherence to rules, codes, legislation, or 
 regulatory requirements
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The disability sector is vast, and individuals with 
both visible and invisible disabilities face debilitating 
challenges daily; and when compounded with the 
global issues brought about by the pandemic, it 
becomes increasingly challenging to try and negotiate 
these obstacles in the civil society sector. 

The disability sector has always grappled with various 
issues, from a lack of understanding within society at 
large, to a failure to enact tangible change from that 
society and governmental institutes once informed. 
This almost always results in various limitations 
on the ability of disabled individuals to exist in 
society and live meaningful and productive lives. 
Inaccessibility to basic services which are not only 
individuals’ inherent rights, but their constitutional 
right, a lack of reasonable and necessary 
accommodations, stigmatism, lack of policies and 
strategic interventions that can help maximise the 
sector on a macro and micro systemic level, as well as 
a lack of funding, are some of the critical issues that 
plague the sector. 

Autism, the fi eld I have experience in, highlights 
inaccessibility as the core issue which needs to be 
addressed to allow for transformation and meaningful 
change. Whilst in the middle of social and civil turmoil 
and at a time when our benefi ciaries are experiencing 
dire distress, we have made it our social and 

organisational responsibility to adapt and transform 
with the times to continually provide our services and 
provide access to the ones in need.  We have moved all 
our services to incorporate social media and telecoms 
to make sure that our services can reach individuals 
even if they cannot physically be at our offi  ces. 

We have counselling via WhatsApp, Zoom support 
groups and telephonic counselling, which we have 
had to make a priority. We rely on our networks and 
the areas in which we have advocates, and we work 
with those individuals to spread both knowledge, but 
more importantly, to advocate for more inclusive policy 
planning and implementation, and trust it to lead to 
tangible changes. Education and outreach initiatives are 
fundamental to the eff ective countering of ostracising 
practices. Resources such as the course developed 
and off ered through Autism Western Cape and partner 
institutions, provides a simplifi ed but comprehensive 
insight into autism spectrum disorder and the varying 
ways in which it presents, as well as the many options 
available to individuals and organisations working 
towards providing reasonable accommodations. 
Even in times where in-contact educational sessions 
are not possible, the online availability of this course 
means that we potentially reach, educate, and equip 
a wider network of individuals than if the course were 
only off ered in certain institutions. We have arranged 
virtual art exhibitions and have embarked on virtual 

T R A N S F O R M  W I T H  T H E  T I M E S

Mduduzi Dube
Managing Director, Autism Western Cape

Autism highlights inaccessibility as the 
core issue which needs to be addressed 
to allow for transformation and 
meaningful change.
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sock campaigns with Falke, as well as a campaign with 
Vumatel, in eff orts to increase funding opportunities 
and to adopt more out- of-the-box thinking  in how 
we approach potential funders. It has become our goal 
to partner with local and international stakeholders 
and to become a sustainably-driven organisation that 
can negotiate crises such as the ones we are currently 
facing with ease, instead of trepidation and fear that 
funders will not see the potential in our services which 
we see every day and believe in. 

Our belief in our services has become so strong 
and fi rm during these times that we have been 
motivated to produce a documentary which 
highlights core issues faced within the autism 
sector from a parent’s perspective.

Watch the documentary here.

On 20 May 2021, 23 sector representatives marched 
to Parliament to hand over our memorandum and 
our petition, which had gained 1500 signatures in 
fi ve days. The march with our newest ambassador, 
Speaker of the Western Cape Provincial Parliament, 
Masizole Mnqasela,  brought together parents, 
caregivers, family members and autistic individuals to 
hand over the document to the Social Development 
Liaison of Minister Lindiwe Zulu. This march took place 
in the rain and sparked all our passions for the cause 
and providing a voice for the voiceless.

To sum it up, we are moving toward resilience 
through the belief in our services, the passion for our 
intervention strategies and our ability to adapt and be 
agile during these times, not just as individuals, but 
within our work environment and through the services 
we provide.

We are moving toward resilience 
through the belief in our services, 
the passion for our intervention 
strategies and our ability to adapt 
and be agile during these times, not 
just as individuals, but within our 
work environment and through the 
services we provide.

https://youtu.be/sXzE3wPMmCw
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The Covid-19 pandemic is undeniably one of the 
greatest global humanitarian  emergencies post the 
Second World War. Its adverse impact has once again 
highlighted the deep-seated societal inequalities 
emanating from, among other things, perpetual 
discriminatory practices against vulnerable groups, 
particularly persons with disabilities. In April 2020, 
the Offi  ce of the United Nations High Commissioner 
for Human Rights (OHCHR) observed that, even 
though the Covid-19 pandemic endangered all 
members of society, persons with disabilities have 
been disproportionately impacted due to attitudinal, 
environmental, and institutional barriers that are 
reproduced in the Covid-19  interventions. The OHCHR 
further contended that the myriad of constraints and 
exclusions confronted by persons with disabilities on a 
daily basis have undoubtedly been exacerbated by the 
untimely outbreak of the pandemic.

Some of the challenges confronted by persons with 
disabilities during the Covid-19 pandemic include 
their greater susceptibility to the virus due to pre-
existing health conditions; inability to engage in 
preventative measures such as physical distancing 
due to reliance on their caregivers; disruptions to 
health services they normally rely on; and inaccessible 

telehealth tools which are not compatible with certain 
programmes such as screen readers for those who 
are blind or visually impaired. It is, therefore, crucial 
that the government, healthcare system, non-
governmental organisations (NGOs) and the general 
population understand the reality of people with 
disabilities in order to support their needs, particularly 
during  humanitarian crises such as those caused 
by the Covid-19 pandemic. Article 11 of the United 
Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with 
Disabilities (CRPD) which South Africa became one 
of the fi rst countries to ratify in November 2007, 
deals with “Situations of risk and humanitarian 

C O V I D - 1 9  A N D  I T S  I M PA C T  O N  P E R S O N S  W I T H  D I S A B I L I T I E S

Tshepo Mothiba
Independent Transformation and Disability Specialist

It is crucial that the government, 
healthcare system, NGOs and the general 
population understand the reality of 
people with disabilities in order to 
support their needs, particularly during  
humanitarian crises such as those 
caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.
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and civilian, peacekeeping personnel, and other fi eld 
workers intervening in emergency situations regarding 
the rights of persons with disabilities. Considering the 
capacity constraints and limited fi nancial resources 
often associated with developing countries like South 
Africa, the role of the NGO sector has increasingly 
become crucial in the quest to ensure the inclusion 
of persons with disabilities in the design and 
implementation of interventions during humanitarian 
disasters and pandemic eruptions. 

The NGO sector through its human and fi nancial 
resources should complement government eff orts by 
providing the necessary support in cases of government 
inadequacies. These may include providing expert 
advice on appropriate policy interventions, including 
capacity development programmes to public servants 
and communities on appropriate response measures for 
persons with disabilities during a pandemic; conducting 
research on the effi  cacy of existing interventions; and 
evaluating the long-term impact of these interventions 
on the wellbeing of persons with disabilities.

In conclusion, whilst governments globally undertook 
measures to mitigate the lethal nature of the 
Covid-19 pandemic, the need to consider persons with 
disabilities at the planning and implementation stages 
of these interventions cannot be over-emphasised. 
The public sector working with the NGO sector must 
forge eff ective collaborations with the intention of 
utilising the available resources judiciously to ensure 
substantive inclusion of persons with disabilities in all 
aspects of human development and protection.

emergencies”, and obligates state parties to 
implement “measures to ensure the protection and 
safety of persons with disabilities in situations of risk, 
including situations of armed confl ict, humanitarian 
emergencies and the occurrence of natural disasters”.

To this end, states and other pertinent humanitarian 
actors are required, inter alia, to reform their policies 
and practices in the context of situations of risk and 
humanitarian emergencies under the CRPD; ensure 
active coordination, participation and meaningful 
consultation with persons with disabilities and their 
representative organizations, including women, 
boys and girls with disabilities, at all levels; and build 
capacity across stakeholders, including both military 

The public sector working with the 
NGO sector must forge eff ective 
collaborations with the intention 
of utilising the available resources 
judiciously to ensure substantive 
inclusion of persons with 
disabilities in all aspects of human 
development and protection.
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PRACTICE
SOCIAL

DISTANCING
2 METRES MINIMUM

The global pandemic has forced us to come face-to-face with our humanity. 
It has forced society to consider and reconsider the way we see each other 
and organise ourselves. It has shown us who we are, and what truly matters.
M E R L I N D A  A B R A H A M S ,  Director, Chameleon Skills 
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The Covid-19 pandemic is the defi ning global health 
crisis of our time. Since Covid-19 fi rst emerged 
towards the end of 2019, and the World Health 
Organisation (WHO) declared it a pandemic on 11 
March 2020, it continues to have major social and 
economic consequences for all sectors of African 
society, including civil society organisations (CSOs).

CSOs have a long tradition of performing crucial 
developmental, humanitarian and advocacy functions 
across Africa, often under challenging conditions. Any 
eff ective response to Covid-19, therefore, requires the 
involvement of CSOs. However, at a time when their 
contributions are more critical than ever, they are also 
confronted with the negative impact of the pandemic 
on their operations and sustainability.

The immediate impact of Covid-19 on African CSOs 
was swift, widespread and destabilising. This was 
one of the main fi ndings of the Africa CSO Covid-19 
Survey that EPIC-Africa and @AfricanNGOs conducted 
from 28 April to 15 May 2020. A total of 1 015 CSOs 
from 44 African countries participated in the survey. 
Some 98% of respondents confi rmed that they had 
been adversely aff ected, while 55.7% indicated that 
they had already experienced a loss of funding at that 
stage. A year later, the impact of Covid-19 on African 
CSOs continues to be far-reaching.

EPIC-Africa and @AfricanNGOs conducted a second 
survey from 1 June to 5 July 2021 and received feedback 
from 1 039 CSOs in 46 African countries. The survey 
fi ndings again highlighted the dual challenge confronting 
African CSOs, namely keeping their organisations afl oat 
while also responding to the growing needs of the 
communities in which they operate. 

Signifi cant loss of funding and ongoing disruption 
of their operations have limited the ability of African 
CSOs to meet the needs of communities at a time 
when Covid-19 has pushed demand for their services 
to unprecedented levels. Of the organizations 
surveyed, 68.1% experienced a loss of funding since 
the start of the pandemic, with only 8.4% having 
received any funding support from a government 
emergency relief fund in their country. 

T H E  I M PA C T  O F  C O V I D - 1 9 
O N  A F R I C A N  C I V I L  S O C I E T Y 
O R G A N I S AT I O N S

Rose Maruru
Co-Founder, Epic-Africa
David Barnard
Consultant To African CSOs and funders

Rose Maruru David Barnard

The immediate impact of Covid-19 on 
African CSOs was swift, widespread 
and destabilising. 98% of survey 
respondents confi rmed that they 
had been adversely aff ected, while 
55.7% indicated that they had already 
experienced a loss of funding.
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Furthermore, 45.5% of respondents reported 
increased costs, and 75.3% felt that Covid-19 would 
have a devastating impact on the sustainability of 
many CSOs. In addition, 80.9% indicated that they 
were not prepared to cope with the disruption to their 
operations caused by Covid-19.
Despite these challenges, African CSOs continue to 
take on expanded roles as demand for their services 
increased in response to the pandemic from 31.5% in 
2020 to 40.7% in 2021. Some 83.4% of respondents 
introduced new programme activities, 27.6% 
increased their programming to deal with the impact 
of Covid-19, and 34.3% changed the focus of their 
programmes to Covid-19 from other areas. 

However, CSOs are providing these services under 
enormous strain on staff  wellness. With 87.1% of 
respondents reporting increased anxiety and stress 
levels among their staff  members, staff  wellness 
emerged as a critical issue confronting many African 
CSOs. In fact, 31.5% identifi ed it as one of the most 
signifi cant organizational shortcomings experienced 
during the pandemic, with 64.9% indicating that 
they have already added new measures to address 
staff  wellness.

The unprecedented scale and disruption of Covid-19 
are severely testing the African CSO sector’s 
capacity to eff ectively play its role while confronting 
its own existential crisis. Indeed, Covid-19 has 

exacerbated historical and operational challenges, 
such as pervasive under-resourcing and restricted 
civic space in many countries that pre-date the 
pandemic. These challenges continue to undermine 
the sector and provide a sobering reminder of the 
perils facing African CSOs. 

If left unattended, this situation will result in the 
closing of a signifi cant number of CSOs, more people 
working in the sector will lose their jobs, and the various 
constituencies that depend on CSOs’ services and 
advocacy interventions will suff er the consequences. 

While there are well-funded African CSOs that are 
thriving under the ongoing adversity, the future 
remains uncertain, with far-reaching implications for 
many African CSOs’ sustainability and the well-being 
of communities that they serve. 

Looking ahead, African CSOs acknowledge that the 
sector needs to be better organised, collaborate 
more, and build more robust networks and platforms. 
Similarly, the lessons learned since the start of the 
pandemic should inform the eff orts of governments, 
funders and other stakeholders in strengthening and 
revitalising the sector. 

With millions of people depending on the vital services 
provided by African CSOs, the sector is simply too 
important to fail.

80.9% 

P R E P A R E D N E S S  

80.9% indicated that they were not 
prepared to cope with the disruption 
to their operations caused by 
COVID-19. 82.8% indicated that 
COVID-19 had exacerbated many 
historical organizational and 
operational challenges facing CSOs.

8.4% 

G O V E R N M E N T  S U P P O R T  

Only 8.4% received funding support from a 
government emergency relief fund during 
the pandemic. 42.3% of the funders 
surveyed felt that governments failed to 
recognize and utilize local CSOs’ skills, 
experience and networks as part of the 
response to COVID -19.

75.3% felt that COVID -19 would have a 
devastating impact on the sustainability of 
many CSOs, compared to 78% in 2020.

56.1% 

R E D U C E D  O P E R A T I O N S  

The situation has improved, as 56.1% 
reduced or cancelled their operations, 
compared to 69.3% in 2020.

83.4% 

I N V O L V E M E N T  I N  T H E  
R E S P O N S E  T O  C O V I D - 1 9

83.4% introduced new program activities in 
response to the pandemic. 27.6% increased 
their programming to deal with the impact of 
COVID-19, while 34.3% changed the focus of 
their programs by shifting to COVID -19 from 
other areas.

42.1% 

O P T I M I S M  

Only 39% expect to experience further reduced 
or cancelled operations over the next 12 months, 
while 42.1% expect demand for their services to 
increase over the next 12 months. 41.4% felt that 
CSOs would emerge stronger and more agile 
after the pandemic, slightly dropping from 45.1% 
in 2020. 

92.3% 

R E C O G N I T I O N  

92.3% of the funders surveyed agreed that 
local CSOs play a critical role in national 
responses to COVID -19. 80.8% felt these 
contributions would result in greater 
public appreciation for the sector's work.

6

97.8% 

O V E R A L L  I M P A C T

97.8%  indicated that COVID -19 
impacted and disrupted their 
operations in one or more ways. 
In 2020 this figure was 98%. 

68.1% 

L O S S  O F  F U N D I N G  

68.1% experienced a loss of funding since 
the start of the pandemic, an increase of 
12.4% compared to 2020. The funders 
surveyed indicated that 76.9% of their 
grantees already lost funding.

45.5% 

I N C R E A S E D  C O S T S  

45.5% reported increased costs, 
compared to 34.9% in 2020.

40.7% 

I N C R E A S E D  D E M A N D  
F O R  S E R V I C E S  

40.7% experienced increased demand 
in services, compared to 31.5% in 2020.37.1% 

C O V I D - 1 9  I N F E C T I O N S

37.1% had one or more of their 
staff test positive for COVID -19. 31.5% 

S T A F F  W E L L N E S S

Identified by 31.5% as one of the most significant 
organizational shortcomings experienced during the 
pandemic. 87.1% reported increased anxiety and stress 
levels among staff, while 83% mentioned increased 
pressure and workload demands on executive leadership. 
64.9% added new measures to address staff wellness.

70% 

M O V E M E N T  O F  S T A F F

70% indicated that COVID -19 resulted in restricted movement 
of staff, compared to 74% in 2020. 81% experienced reduced 
face-to-face community interactions compared to 79.4% in 
2020. 61.5% reported that the pandemic forced staff to work 
from home or that staff still work from home, compared to 
67.8% in 2020.

75.3% 

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  

Summary of the Key Findings

Read the full report here.  

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5638d8dbe4b087140cc9098d/t/617aa205267bb74562c1eedd/1635426839723/EPIC-Africa+The+Impact+of+COVID-19+on+African+Civil+Society+Organizations+OCTOBER+2021+REPORT+(4).pdf
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G U I D E L I N E S  F O R  L E A D E R S 
I N  PA N D E M I C  T I M E S

Merlinda Abrahams
Director, Chameleon Skills 

What an incredibly challenging year this has 
been; for individuals, for organisations. The global 
pandemic has forced us to come face-to-face with 
our humanity. It has forced society to consider and 
reconsider the way we see each other and organise 
ourselves. It has shown us who we are, and what 
truly matters. Over the last year, we have also had 
the opportunity to examine quite intimately what it 
means to ‘work from home’ – what isolation means 
and the impact it has on organisations. For those who 
were privileged enough to continue to work through 
this time, the situation proved itself to be a trying 
one, requiring leaders to step up in ways they never 
thought they would need to. 

The role of the leader has come into distinct focus, 
and the need for managers and Boards to create 
enabling environments where staff  continue to 
develop, and grow, has been placed squarely at the 
feet of the leader. So, how do we create these kinds of 
environments that enable individuals to thrive despite 
pandemic conditions? Over the last year, Chameleon 
Skills has had the privilege of working with both for-
profi t and non-profi t organisations in South Africa, and 
on the African continent in Kenya, Ethiopia, Zambia 
and Liberia. Many of the leaders we worked with were 
grappling with this very question. As we worked with 
them, the following became clear guidelines for leaders 
in pandemic times: 

First, as leaders, be prepared to understand change, 
and be open to what that will bring to your ‘way of 
working’ as an organisation. Change, especially forced 
change, is often coupled with resistance. This is not 
the time to put all your eff ort into resisting change. 
Rather, lead from the front and model what it means 
to embrace change. Understand that, just like you, 
your people are feeling vulnerable. What can you do 
with that information? Remember the golden rule – 
treat others how you would like to be treated – what 
do you need at this time? It is probably what they 
need too; reassurance, communication, guidance, 
admitting that you’re all scared and inviting them to 
problem-solve with you!  

Communication – did I mention communication? 
At this time, almost more than at any other time, 
communication is vital!  Involve your people in the 
thinking and planning. Ask them how they would do it. 
Make it OK for people to say, “I don’t know” and work at 
fi nding the solutions together. 

Once you’ve created the necessary psychological 
safety, remind them of your shared vision and 
values and what you continue to work towards as an 
organisation. Then, set clear expectations for all roles 
in the organisation with consistent standards to be 
met. Help them recognise how integral they are to 
organisational success. If they do not see that you see 
it, and acknowledge and appreciate it, they may feel 
forgotten and ‘slip’ through the ‘commitment cracks’.  
Here leaders need to hold themselves to the same 
values and behaviours and again, lead from the front. 

With the amount of virtual working that is needed 
currently, use each interaction to provide the 
necessary connection that people need to engage, 
re-engage or stay engaged. 

Finally, understand the importance of a learning 
culture in your organisation. It is important to 
encourage an openness where people feel that they 
can trust the organisation, and where there is a 
positive approach to solving problems and challenges. 
Mistakes need to be acknowledged as part of a 
learning process rather than being covered up from 
fear of reprisals. To do this trust must be off ered and 
earned, so again, leadership is key here. 

Leaders, for your people to thrive in pandemic times, 
to continue to grow, you need to engage them, involve 
them and keep them close.
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The programming division developed online curricula 
focused on Inyathelo’s Advancement model, board 
governance, fi nancial management and fi nancial 
sustainability. The approach of the programmes team 
was to develop materials that were interactive and 
engaging and which worked on an online platform.  
The team sought to incorporate training that was 
based on organisational development theory and 
examples of good practice. The training also refl ected 
on clinic questions and Inyathelo’s own growth 
trajectory over its 21-year journey. The goal was 
to identify challenges and strategies for building 
organisational resilience. 

Open events

Of the workshops off ered, four were open events. 
The fi rst, a free Inyathelo webinar on effi  cient digital 
solutions for virtual meetings, was developed by mid-
May. The workshop was presented by the Operations 
team. Their tips and advice off ered valuable lessons 
for NPOs, on how to host a webinar  while keeping 
costs down.

Inyathelo took part in various external capacity 
building forums and panels to build capacity during 
these critical Covid-19 times. During July, an NPO 
Dialogue Collaboration webinar addressed the role of 
good governance in a time of fi nancial distress. More 
than ever, NPOs needed to have excellent policies 
and  systems entrenched in order to attract much-
needed funds.

The onset of Covid-19 and the resulting lockdown 
forced NPOs to swiftly learn how to share knowledge 
virtually, sometimes with a large number of 
participants. They did so under rapidly changed 
circumstances, with relatively few resources, and 
often while simultaneously delivering essential 
frontline services. 

Inyathelo staff  had begun to work remotely on 18 March 
–  this was as new to them as it was for other NPOs – 
and staff   were astounded when, early on, they tallied 
up the unplanned cost of multiple video calls. They 
realised that each video meeting used an average 1GB. 
While some people in the nonprofi t sector have fi bre, 
others work off  phone data.  At the end of the day it is 
about rands and cents, and most non-profi ts have to 
manage these costs extremely carefully.

This realisation triggered the development of both a 
workshop to help other NPOs to maximise their data 
resources; and a campaign to  raise awareness of the 
importance of data, and greater accessibility to data.

Workshops, symposia, peer-learning, training

C I V I L 
S O C I E T Y 
O V E R V I E W

Inyathelo is a great 
and indispensable 
node in the non-profi t 
ecosystem.

VIRTUAL WORKSHOPS IN TOTAL 
DEVELOPED BY INYATHELO18

PARTICIPANTS555
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Bespoke events

In terms of bespoke events, Inyathelo developed 
governance training sessions for  the Durban Film 
Mart Institute, the Cape Town Cycle Tour Trust, the 
Centre for Environmental Rights, and the Mining and 
Environmental Justice Community Network. Webinars 
were also developed for the National Association 
of Social Change Entities in Education (NASCEE) 
fundraising capacity development programme. These 
were extremely well received, with comments including:

Cape Town Cycle Tour Trust 
 “An excellent review of the governance, fi duciary and 

strategic responsibilities of directors.” 
 “Whilst I prefer live sessions,  these were good – 

and the relevance of experiences made it real.”
 “Well done in such a relaxed manner that you wanted 

to be part of the group discussions and felt at ease.”
 
Centre for Environmental Rights
 “Inyathelo is a great and indispensable node in the 

non-profi t ecosystem.”
 “We are blessed to have Inyathelo on our side”

Durban Film Mart Institute
 “Thanks for the calm, authentic, considered input.”
 “I found the content very engaging and empowering 

not just for the current board but as an added 
leadership tool for myself. Thank you.”

Nascee
 “I found the session today very interesting. It’s 

defi nitely highlighted some grey areas for me. So as 
like a curtain has been lifted in some areas.” 

 “I learned a lot about a resource mobilisation 
strategy, the diff erence between fundraising and 
resource mobilisation. I learned that you don’t use 
them interchangeably, they are two diff erent things. 
Fundraising is a plan within the plan.” 

 “I should get more involved in questioning things 
that’s happening in our organisation because 
there’s a lot I didn’t know, and things I didn’t think I 
had to know as a member of the fundraising team, 
but the Inyathelo investment readiness survey 
opened my eyes to things that I was questioning.”

Clinic interactions

Sectors represented in clinic interactions spanned 
healthcare, arts and culture, fi lm, public policy 
research and analysis, environmental rights, mental 

The following month, Inyathelo launched its digital 
fundraising campaign with a powerful Zoom 
presentation, building on its earlier realisation of 
the lack of data accessibility. Warren Nebe of Wits 
University, Director of Drama for Life, and his group The 
Healers, coupled with a heartfelt address by the late 
journalist Karima Brown, made for a compelling launch.
 
The popular annual #ThinkGood2020 seminar, in 
collaboration with the Service Provider’s Network, 
went virtual for the fi rst time. The day-long seminar, 
with the theme of Towards a New Horizon, off ered 
15 presentations hosted by experts in their fi elds. 
They covered numerous subjects ranging from 
the emerging new normal for non-profi t fi nancial 
management and compliance, to a panel discussion 
on the funding landscape post-Covid-19. 

Follow these on YouTube.

Inyathelo also took part in a Humentum virtual round 
table on organisational best practices and fi nancial 
sustainability. These regular monthly events are 
designed to bring African NPO staff  together to talk 
and share resources, challenges and successes with 
peers, in order to build organisational resilience.
Inyathelo’s own staff  participated in various webinars 
to grow their in-house virtual capability. This enabled 
Inyathelo to navigate the transition to virtual support 
and training with relative ease, thanks to a committed 
staff  and board. Sharing these learnings not only 
made the transition easier for others in the sector, but 
enabled Inyathelo to contribute to its own fi nancial 
sustainability by continuing to off er training. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KIkdeLEq_Ck&list=PLZeVIXP6ux0jaI29wJxGCpu14ciKp-Cc8
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Independent consultant and founder of Inyathelo, 
Shelagh Gastrow, discussed the fi ndings, outlining 
strengths, gaps, implications for NPOs, and more. 

Read the full report here.  

The Impact of Covid-19 on African Civil Society 
Organisations (2020)
EPIC-Africa and @AfricanNGOs created a survey to 
understand how the Covid-19 pandemic impacted 
African CSOs, the fi rst of its kind. Over 1000 African 
CSOs completed the survey between 29 May and 
15 April 2020. 

Read the survey here.

Social Justice Sector Review Report 
This report was published by the Public Aff airs 
Research Institute in November 2020 and was 
made possible by the Raith Foundation. Despite the 
signifi cant contributions made by the social justice 
sector towards the realisation of South Africa’s 
constitutional values, it has rarely been recognised for 
its contributions.

Read the fi ndings here.

Survey to gauge public opinion on tax compliance 
Inyathelo received a request for participation in 2020 
and provided feedback on the sector. 

Inyathelo also took part in an Open Society Foundation 
South Africa grant-making survey, and a ten-year 
grant-making survey by the Raith Foundation, in 2020. 

health and education. These took the form of face-
to-face meetings, emails, phone and Zoom calls. The 
topics included NPO governance and compliance, 
capacity building, training for board members, and 
appropriate NPO structures. 

Funding Finder

Funding Finder allows people  to search for donors 
according to their sector,  sub-sector, province/s, as well 
as the kind of activities needing funding and the type of 
donors. Inyathelo received 56 Funding Finder requests.

Media messaging

Civil society advocacy during the year included 
messages of support and tips on practical 
sustainability to help NPOs navigate the pandemic 
crisis. These messages were conveyed  through 
both traditional and digital media platforms.  
Examples included participation in BizCommunity 
#LockdownLessons, a question and answer series 
on this popular news platform; a release off ering  10 
tips to help NPOs navigate the crisis; and a release 
on understanding the donor world – tips on fi nding 
a funder. These releases were consistently picked up 
by media and led to regular broadcast interviews and 
online articles, reaching a broad audience of both 
NPOs and the general public. 

Research participation 

Inyathelo regularly participates in surveys and 
research reports relevant to the sectors in which it 
operates. These included the following:

Typologies of Civil Society in South Africa 
Inyathelo hosted a review of a milestone civil 
society report on 10 March 2020. Inyathelo trustee 
Nomvula Dlamini opened the round table discussion, 
attended by  some 60 civil society organisation (CSO) 
representatives. They gathered to debate a critical 
review and analysis of the NPO sector, Typologies of 
Civil Society in South Africa. The intention of the report 
was to off er stakeholders a nuanced understanding 
of the sector in its current form, providing a base 
for revitalisation. Introducing the report, undertaken 
by the Human Sciences Research Council on behalf 
of Kagiso Trust, project leader Boichoko Dithlake 
said South Africa had great potential, yet the CSO 
sector needed to examine how it was organised. The 
research indicated a need to get back to basics. 

https://www.kagiso.co.za/2020/01/22/typologies-of-civil-society-in-south-africa/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5638d8dbe4b087140cc9098d/t/5efabc7884a29a20185fcbaf/1593490570417/The+Impact+of+Covid-19+on+African+Civil+Society+Organizations.pdf
https://pari.org.za/social-justice-sector-review-report-raith-foundation/
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1 MARCH 2020 TO 28 FEBRUARY 2021

Workshops, Webinars, Symposia, Peer-learning, Training Events and other

Face to Face 
Workshop

Online 

Online 

Online

Online 

Online 

Online 

Online 

Online 

Online 

Online

Online

Online

Online 

Online 

Online

Online 

Online 

17 

Round table discussion

Inyathelo webinar 

Collaboration event 
(NPO Dialogue 
Collaboration)

Launch: Inyathelo Digital 
Fundraising Campaign  

Collaboration event 
(ThinkGood 2020)

Governance training 
workshop 1:
Durban Film Mart Institute 

Governance training 
workshop 2:
Durban Film Mart Institute 

Governance training 
workshop 3:
Durban Film Mart Institute 

Governance training 
workshop 4:
Durban Film Mart Institute 

Governance training 
workshop 1: 
Cape Town Cycle Tour Trust 

Governance training 
workshop 2: 
Cape Town Cycle Tour Trust

Governance training 
workshop 3: 
Cape Town Cycle Tour Trust

Governance training 
workshop 4: 
Cape Town Cycle Tour Trust

Governance workshop 1:
Centre for Environmental 
Rights

Governance workshop 2: 
Centre for Environmental 
Rights

Governance Workshop 1: 
MEJCON Workshop 

NASCEE Fundraising 
Capacity Development 
Programme: Webinar 1 

NASCEE Fundraising 
Capacity Development 
Programme: Webinar 2

Total number of webinars 

Kagiso Trust Typologies Report & 
Social Sector Summit

Effi  cient Digital Solutions for 
Virtual Meetings 

“The Role of Good Governance 
during a time of Financial 
Distress” in collaboration with 
NPO Collaboration Dialogue 
service provider network

Digital Fundraising Campaign 
launch 

ThinkGood2020:  Towards a new 
Horizon in collaboration with the 
service provider network 

Roles and Responsibilities

Compliance and Oversight

Relationship of the CEO and 
Board

Strategy and Values

Roles and Responsibilities

Compliance and Oversight

Relationship of the CEO and 
Board

Strategy and Values 

Governance and sustainability – 
Rights and Remedies course

Governance and sustainability 
session 2 – Rights and Remedies 
course

Roles and Responsibilities

Introduction to the NASCEE 
Fundraising Capacity 
Development Programme 

Baseline Assessment Review and 
Introduction to Advancement 

Total participants 

PLATFORMACTIVITIES TOPIC

10/03/2020

13/05/2020

22/07/2020

07/08/2020

18/08/2020

30/09/2020

13/10/2020

15/10/2020

19/10/2020

04/11/2020

18/11/2020

23/11/2020

23/11/2020

13/11/2020

16/11/2020

17/02/2021

23/02/2021

25/02/2021

Open Event 

Open Event 

Open Event – 
Civil Society

Open Event 

Open Event – 
Civil Society

Bespoke 

Bespoke 

Bespoke

Bespoke

Bespoke

Bespoke

Bespoke 

Bespoke 

Bespoke 

Bespoke

Bespoke 

Bespoke  

Bespoke 

35

60

67

36

78

6

6

6

6

17 

17

17

17

22

20

12

21

19

551

DATE TYPE PARTICIPANTS
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Just as it has done to societies across the world, 
Covid-19 has placed enormous stresses and 
strains on South Africa’s people through its severe 
implications for their health and its impact on 
the national and local economies. In a sense the 
pandemic pre-existed the arrival of the SARS-CoV-2 
virus. South Africa, with its appalling levels of poverty 
and inequality, has experienced an extraordinary 
stress test from which it has much to learn. Higher 
education hasn’t escaped this. It too has learned 
much and has much more to learn. 

While Covid-19 has had a devastating impact on all 
aspects of the operations of the universities and on 
their students and staff , it would be a serious error 
to think of Covid-19 as the only disruptive process 
that South Africa’s higher education system has been 
subjected to. The student activism of 2015-2017, the 
post-2008 economic crisis and it impact on funding 
for teaching and research, and the annual challenges 
to the national system (in particular, at the historically 
disadvantaged institutions and the universities of 
technology) for a better student funding system have 
all conspired to keep the system in a state of crisis. 
There have, nevertheless, been important learnings in 
the last 18 months. I refer to just two here.

Perhaps the most important was a fundamental shift: 
to anchor the response of the individual universities 
and the sector to Covid-19 on a set of principles. 
For instance, when it became clear, at the fi rst 
announcement of the lockdown, that the rapid shift 
to some form of emergency online teaching/learning 
would jeopardise the access to learning of more than 
50% of the students in the system, it was decided 
that each institution would adopt multiple pathways 
to ensure this access – even if it meant extending the 
2020 academic year into 2021.

Just as important to the response of the sector 
was the development of an ethos of collaboration 
and partnership-building among the 26 public 
universities. Both old and new communities of 
practice from across the sector worked ceaselessly 
to produce innovative solutions to address the vexed 
challenges the universities found themselves facing. 
Universities SA acted as a cohering centre for these. 
This spirit of collaboration and partnership expanded 
beyond the universities to include government, the 
National Students Financial Aid Scheme, the Council 
on Higher Education, Higher Health, the South 
African Public Colleges Organisation and private 
sector organisations. 

C O V I D - 1 9 :  L E S S O N S 
F O R  H I G H E R  E D U C AT I O N

Prof Ahmed Bawa
CEO, Universities South Africa

South Africa, with its appalling levels of 
poverty and inequality, has experienced 
an extraordinary stress test from which 
it has much to learn.
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One may imagine for instance the development of a 
plan for the creation of a national digital teaching and 
learning ecosystem that reaches all South Africans 
and provides for connectivity. Also drawing on the 
use of technology, an acceleration in the potential for 
new collaborations in co-teaching and co-badging of 
qualifi cations between universities in South Africa may 
be another line of exciting investigation. 

This deeply disruptive moment produces many 
channels for new partnerships between philanthropy 
and universities that may produce powerfully 
transformative outcomes. This may be a moment for 
bold thinking.

These examples – with a range of others – have 
helped to open the way for a reimagination of the 
relationship between universities and society. We 
have seen the emergence of a social justice rubric 
to underpin the way in which universities relate 
to society. And the emergence of strong inter-
institutional partnerships and the idea of working 
eff ectively to build a better higher education 
ecosystem too have created a pathway to building a 
more eff ective higher education system. Of course, 
one has to say that this must be convolved with 
several other conditions such as the long-term 
funding of the sector. 

Partnerships between philanthropy and universities 
are well established with deep roots. Meetings at the 
beginning of the pandemic have produced interesting 
new interventions and partnerships. There are clearly 
important intersections between ongoing and new 
philanthropic interventions. 

With the explosion in the use of digital technologies 
in teaching and learning, numerous questions arise 
related to access, quality and success. Much needs to 
be investigated to ensure that the use of technology 
serves the mission of public universities well. 

This deeply disruptive moment 
produces many channels for new 
partnerships between philanthropy and 
universities that may produce powerfully 
transformative outcomes and may be a 
moment for bold thinking.
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Our strategy to support the development of 
Advancement capacity in universities in South Africa 
continues and Inyathelo remains committed to our 
mission in this regard. We have several objectives 
within our university strategy:

 Grow and support a community of practice within 
the sector. 

 Facilitate the professional development of 
Advancement staff  through accredited courses.

 Develop leadership capacity through the Higher 
Education Leadership Management Division in 
Universities South Africa (USAf).

 Conduct research that will support Advancement 
development in the university sector.

 Facilitate partnerships and collaboration that will 
support fi nancial sustainably and resilience in 
universities.

While the dominant focus of Inyathelo has been 
universities, we plan to expand this support to 
schools and colleges, in our eff ort to contribute to 
solutions that will assist in mitigating the education 

crisis in South Africa. We are open to bespoke 
requests. During 2020, we were able to focus on 
three programme areas under our higher education 
pillar.  We worked on implementing our commitments 
in the United States-South Africa (USSA) Higher 
Education Network; continued our work with the 
Centre on African Philanthropy and Social Investment 
(CAPSI) at Wits University on the development of the 
Postgraduate Diploma in Philanthropy and Resource 
Mobilisation;  and published the 2019 Annual Survey 
in Philanthropy (ASPIHE). 

H I G H E R  E D U C AT I O N  O V E R V I E W 

Nazeema Mohamed
Executive Director, Inyathelo

While the dominant focus of 
Inyathelo has been universities, 
we plan to expand this support to 
schools and colleges, in our eff ort 
to contribute to solutions that will 
assist in mitigating the education 
crisis in South Africa.
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impactful and resourceful. Both papers will be overseen 
by reference teams. In 2020, we identifi ed potential 
researchers and reference team members. There were 
several delays due to contractual issues and fi nding the 
appropriate expertise for conducting the work.  These 
challenges have been resolved and the groundwork laid 
for work in 2021.  

Ongoing work in the USSA HEN programme includes 
exchange and collaboration between universities in 
South Africa and the USA and growing the programme 
by seeking funding support. The exchange programme 
was impacted by Covid-19, however plans are still 
afoot for visits between the countries when it is 
safe to travel and for virtual exchange. Inyathelo has 
developed a proposal for establishing a baseline on 
Advancement operations at historically disadvantaged 
universities. We are currently identifying a lead 
researcher and prospects for this research. 

A third area of the work that was slow to evolve was 
our collaboration with the South African Research 
and Innovation Management Association (SARIMA). 
This relationship was new to Inyathelo, and it 
required several conversations to reach a common 
understanding around the outcome of the work.  
SARIMA will focus on university research offi  ce 
capacity development in historically disadvantaged 
universities.  Research grants and technology 
transfer offi  ces are important sources of additional 
funding for universities, and it is important that 
we unpack the various ways collaboration occurs 
between Advancement offi  ces and research offi  ces in 
universities; and management of information systems 
pertaining to grants received by the universities and 
how these impact on dashboards and management, 
leadership and oversight responsibilities.

The PGDip in Resource Mobilisation 
and Advancement

Our decision to migrate the development of the PGDip 
on Resource Mobilisation and Philanthropy to the 
Centre on African Philanthropy and Social Investment 
(CAPSI) at the University of the Witwatersrand in 2019 
yielded a positive outcome. In 2020, Inyathelo signed 
a partnership agreement with CAPSI for ongoing 
collaboration as there was an overlap in the focus 
areas of the Centre and Inyathelo and we believed 
that our partnership could yield conversations and 
research that integrated theory and practice and 
would advance professional development.

USSA Higher Education Network

Our partnership with the USSA HEN incorporated 
multiple levels of engagement.  Inyathelo is a 
programme lead on the objective related to university 
Advancement and third stream income, universities 
as anchor institutions and university research offi  ce 
capacity development. We are required to work across 
programme areas and engage with other programme 
leads and we collectively work towards developing 
partnerships and exchange of ideas between 
universities in the USA and South Africa. 

The outcomes set for Inyathelo in the USSA HEN 
partnership agreement are that we facilitate the 
development of two concept papers, one on third 
stream income and the other on anchor universities 
in South Africa. The third stream income paper will 
focus on the evolution of thinking on third stream 
income following the publication of the research 
report produced by CHERTL at Rhodes University in 
2009. We plan to pick up on the recommendations 
in the Vice Chancellors’ conference report which 
discussed the CHERTL research and identify the 
shifts in the environment since 2009. The paper on 
anchor institutions will identify the relationships and 
partnerships that universities have developed in their 
communities; whether there are universities in South 
Africa that can be classifi ed as anchor universities; 
and examine the extent to which these have been 
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 Prompt similarly comprehensive work on other 
third-stream income in the HE sector; and

 Encourage universities to improve fundraising data 
collection and management information systems.

We are pleased to report that the ASPIHE programme 
has certainly been successful in achieving all these 
objectives. We believe though that it may be helpful 
to conduct an evaluation of ASPIHE and this is 
currently under consideration. Since the inception 
of the programme, there have been signifi cant 
developments at universities and Inyathelo. The 
ASPIHE programme has covered a period in HE that 
has been the most intensive and robust and where the 
funding constraints to the South African HE system 
were brought starkly to the fore.  

We are pleased to report that Professor Beverly 
Thaver of the University of the Western Cape, who 
is an HE policy analyst and subject specialist, has 
been appointed as researcher for the 2020 ASPIHE 
report.  We wish to thank the 11 universities which 
subscribe to ASPIHE and make this work possible.  A 
special thank you to all Advancement directors and 
professionals.  We are grateful for your contributions 
and ongoing support of Inyathelo.

CAPSI is a remarkable resource for our country, 
and it will be an invaluable location for professional 
development for the grant making and grant seeking 
sectors. The Centre’s ties with philanthropy across the 
African continent also provide a much-needed space 
for African collaboration and knowledge generation in 
the fi eld of philanthropy. 

We are pleased to report the PGDip in Resource 
Mobilisation and Philanthropy was accredited as an 
off ering in the Wits Business School and the course 
started in July 2021. The high cost of the course 
continues to be a concern for CAPSI and Inyathelo as 
we believe it presents an access barrier to students 
wishing to enrol in the programme. There are currently 
no scholarships available for the PGDip and we have 
committed to fi nding fi nancial support.

Annual Survey of Philanthropy in 
Higher Education (ASPIHE)

The Annual Survey of Philanthropy in Higher Education 
(ASPIHE) for 2019 was released in October 2020. 
Eleven universities participated in the 2019 survey, 
the last report to be produced by Dr Sean Jones. 
We are grateful to Dr Jones for his years of service 
and commitment as the principal researcher on the 
ASPIHE project. The ASPIHE publication has provided 
a signifi cant contribution to understanding university 
funding streams and in particular the contributions of 
the philanthropic sector to universities over the past 
six years. The 2019 report notes that philanthropic 
income generated by the eleven participating 
universities was an impressive total of R1.61 
billion.  Adding income received from SETAs to the 
philanthropic support raises the Advancement income 
for 2019 to R1.91 billion.  

Sean Jones noted in the introduction to his report 
that ASPIHE was initiated to:

 Provide a robust mechanism for collecting reliable 
and consistent information about philanthropic 
support for the Higher Education (HE) sector;

 Enable ongoing assessment of the overall impact of 
philanthropy on the sector;

 Serve as a basis for benchmarking and development 
of best practice indicators for those in the sector 
who are responsible for attracting, generating and 
administering philanthropic income;

 Stimulate the development of a body of scholarship 
on Advancement in South Africa;
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The past 18 months will forever be etched in our 
minds as a period of great uncertainty, anxiety, 
disruption and even panic. The global Covid-19 
pandemic has tested communities, businesses, 
governments and also not-for-profi t organisations 
in how they are able to continue delivering a vital 
service whilst providing the necessary support to 
staff , ensuring operational effi  ciency and importantly, 
sustainability of their operations. 

SANZAF, like many other NPOs, was impacted by 
the pandemic and tested on a number of fronts. 
Thankfully, the organisation has been able to weather 
the storm, mostly due to a number of fundamental 
principles engrained in the ethos of the organisation, 
which stood us in good stead during this challenging 
time. Here are some of these principles which helped 
us navigate the past year and a half, and hopefully will 
carry us through what still lies ahead – as we proceed 
with optimism and a belief that the end is in sight.

1.  Clarity of purpose

When facing an unprecedented challenge where there 
is no blueprint or roadmap to the solution, it becomes 
important to remain focused on the vision, mission, 
values and purpose of the organisation. Clarity of 
purpose anchors the ship and steadies it amidst the 
tumultuous seas, provides direction, informs decisions 
and creates a sense of calm when there is so much 
uncertainty around.

At the initial stages of the lockdown when the team 
came together to strategise the way forward, it was 
extremely helpful and empowering to launch the 
organisation’s response plan on the strength of our 
well-articulate statement of purpose.

2.  Management responsiveness

As the reality of the pandemic started to reach South 
Africa a few months after the world fi rst became 
aware of it, it was clear that we could not wait for a 
full set of facts to emerge before determining what to 
do. SANZAF management immediately refocused the 
organisation’s strategic objectives on the immediate 
needs which became quite clear in the fi rst two 
weeks of the hard lockdown in March 2020. This 
very necessary decision by President Ramaphosa 
unleashed a humanitarian crisis as the economic 
impact of locking South Africa down resulted in 
signifi cant hunger, fi nancial vulnerability, loss of 
lives and livelihoods. SANZAF paused, assessed, 
anticipated, then acted.

As more information and insights emerged, we 
continued to re-assess the situation and where 
needed, amended our approach. Creating a narrative 
in the organisation that the situation is fl uid and 
that we will be required to adapt and respond as 
circumstances demand, was a great advantage. 
The entire SANZAF team was open to the concept of 
‘adapting whilst running’ – as long as they could see 
that our service to the various communities was true 
to our mandate and the organisation’s values.

3.  Operating principles 

The need for immediate action can very easily confl ict 
with the organisation’s traditional accountability 
mechanism. SANZAF’s internal protocols are 
well entrenched and are an integral part of the 
organisation’s governance practices. In responding 
to the humanitarian needs, there was a conscious 
eff ort to fi nd the balance between adhering to the 

S A N Z A F  I N S I G H T S  - 
L E S S O N S  F R O M  T H E 
C O V I D - 1 9  PA N D E M I C

Yasmina Francke
CEO, The South African National Zakáh Fund
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structured with the sole purpose of providing South 
Africans with the means to a dignifi ed existence.

To this end SANZAF partnered with various entities 
in the public and private sectors in diff erent parts 
of the country and this helped to strengthen the 
humanitarian response to the pandemic.

6. Team wellbeing

The wellbeing of our team remains a key priority for 
us. Not only was our team thrust into the ‘front-line’ 
by facing the pandemic with every home visit and 
every hamper distribution, but they too had families 
and loved ones impacted by the crisis.

SANZAF remained ‘open’ throughout the lockdown, 
even though many of our offi  ces were closed to the 
public. The team operated from warehouses, from 
their homes and from partners’ facilities.  Throughout 
this diffi  cult time, SANZAF invested signifi cantly to 
ensure that the necessary PPE was provided and that 
the team would be safe whilst delivering aid – which 
was often life-saving.

Sadly, SANZAF lost a few team members to the 
pandemic and the necessary support is always in 
place to take care of surviving family members whilst 
also providing for the well-being of colleagues.

Being fairly fl exible during this period with regards to 
working hours, working environment and keeping the 
team updated regularly, certainly helped to build the 
team spirit.

Conclusion

Covid-19 catapulted the non-profi t sector into 
unfamiliar territory, but it provided us with a 
great opportunity to work on our organisational 
fundamentals including strategy, planning, policies 
and governance to ensure that we operate more 
eff ectively in the future.

Importantly, it provided us with the opportunity to gain 
trust from our various stakeholders in delivering an 
extremely vital service to humanity, at a time when 
other aid structures may have been hamstrung. 

There is no doubt that we have a huge task ahead of 
us in rebuilding our nation. The NPO sector has earned 
its right to be a formidable force in this rejuvenation.

required bureaucracy and being able to respond 
timeously whilst still remaining true to our values 
of transparency and accountability. With SANZAF’s 
management practices in respect of fi nance, human 
resources, distribution, funding and marketing being 
well-entrenched in its operating methodology, it 
meant that the back end could cope with a sudden 
change in the environment and the team became 
very creative about how to stick to protocols whilst 
prioritising the human suff ering. 

4. Eff ective communication

Many stakeholders needed to be engaged in this 
process: the SANZAF trustees, the board, the team, 
donors and importantly, individuals and communities 
in need. Internally the team was armed with all the 
necessary protocols relating to the safety measures 
in protecting themselves and others from the virus. 
Regional heads received a toolkit for managing their 
respective offi  ces as new realities emerged – such 
as working from home, social distancing and contact 
tracing. Importantly also, the board received multiple 
updates on a weekly basis.

In addition, donors were kept informed of our eff orts 
and our outreach programmes and notifi cations were 
put out to the public on how to access assistance 
during the lockdown.  All digital platforms were 
activated as the world raced to embrace technology.

All of this sent a strong message that SANZAF was 
open and functioning. It also engendered a sense of 
pride amongst the team, knowing that we were able 
to help at a time when many were helpless. It also 
attracted donors, off ering fi nancial assistance as well 
as donating in kind.

5. Partnerships and collaborations

Dealing with a humanitarian crisis where the entire 
population was aff ected, required a collective 
response. It was clear that the situation demanded 
an ‘all hands on deck’ approach. However, when this 
happens, there is always the challenge of duplication 
of eff orts. 

SANZAF adopted a collaborative approach and sought 
partnerships with other community organisations, 
family trusts, corporates and local government. 
The organisation expressed the view that such 
collaborations needed to be purposeful, deliberate and 
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Covid-19 and the lockdown restrictions have led 
to a focus at Inyathelo on online philanthropic 
interventions to help NPOs remain sustainable at a 
time when so much is asked of them. Helping NPOs to 
remain connected, raising their awareness of a wide 
array of resources, and instilling the 10 elements of 
Advancement have been key areas of intervention.

Covid-19 portal

ASK Inyathelo is an online Advancement platform that 
off ers handy access to articles, materials, guides and 
tips on Advancement and fundraising. It has been a 
go-to resource for many people over the years. As the 
initial impact of Covid-19 became obvious, Inyathelo 
added a Covid-19 page to that portal. 

Access the portal here.

The topics cover webinars and funding opportunities, 
research fi ndings, and articles on subjects such 
as working from home and mental wellness. This 
portal is updated regularly, with a monthly letter 
of encouragement to Inyathelo stakeholders that 
includes the latest highlights.

Inyathelo also keeps NPOs informed of pertinent 
information such as tax and rates relief off ered 
by the City of Cape Town and other bodies. There 
is, in addition, communication of  international 
opportunities such as the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, 
and Economic Security Act, passed by the U.S. 
Congress in March 2020. People who did not usually 
itemise deductions for their taxes could now claim a 
deduction for charitable donations in the 2020/2021 
fi nancial year. This change off ered a glimmer of hope 
for some local NPOs and universities struggling due to 
diminished funding.

#KeepConnecting data fundraising 
campaign launch

Inyathelo launched a  digital fundraising campaign 
in August 2020 to highlight the serious fi nancial 
and operational challenges experienced by NPOs in 
the pandemic. The  launch was championed by the 
late journalist Karima Brown, and Warren Nebe and 
The Healers, who staged a virtual drama of NPO’s 
experiences on the ground using playback theatre and 
story-telling. Inyathelo Executive Director Nazeema 
Mohamed reminded participants that raising money 
for data would enable NPOs to work remotely and to 
stay in touch with the communities they serve. Data 
would also enable NPOs to participate in webinars and 
online learning events. Friends of Inyathelo contributed 
videos to raise awareness and raised R8499. The 
online fundraising platform was exciting and the 
staff  performance evaluations indicated unreservedly 
that all loved working on the campaign. Several 

I N YAT H E L O  P H I L A N T H R O P I C  I N T E R V E N T I O N S 

Helping NPOs remain 
sustainable at a time 
when so much is 
asked of them.

https://pari.org.za/social-justice-sector-review-report-raith-foundation/
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exacerbated the challenges of hunger, homelessness 
and related social ills. Accordingly, we need greater 
understanding of and cooperation with grassroots 
non-profi ts if we are to address the pressing needs of 
the most vulnerable in our society. 

Inyathelo has noted the development of Community 
Action Networks (CANs), part of Cape Town Together, 
a widespread neighbourhood organising eff ort 
designed to keep the people of Cape Town safe 
during the Covid-19 pandemic. Following initial  
contact, there are opportunities for Inyathelo to 
lend support to some CANs, for example advice on 
governance and registration for those wishing to 
formalise their structures.

Information exchange

Inyathelo continues to participate in networks such 
as  the Worldwide Initiatives for Grantmaker Support,  
and the African Philanthropy Network through its 2020 
conference. In addition, Inyathelo’s  Annual Survey 
of Philanthropy in Higher Education was featured 
in the 2020 Annual Review of African Philanthropy, 
spearheaded by the Independent Philanthropy 
Association of South Africa. 

Download the report from IPASA here.

In conclusion, the pandemic has revealed the 
advantages of technological solutions in supporting 
NPOs. It has also highlighted the gap between those 
with ready access to data, and those struggling to stay 
connected. Worsening poverty, lack of shelter, food 
insecurity and gender violence have underpinned calls 
for greater social justice and basic income support.

valuable lessons emerged for Inyathelo.  The most 
important was that it was a campaign that needed 
dedicated attention with a long-term goal. Inyathelo 
was reminded that resource mobilisation is not about 
charity and solicitation, but an alignment of values 
that is discovered through clear and decisive actions 
that include identifi cation of prospects amenable to 
a case for support. We still believe the rationale for 
the campaign was accurate but as with all resource 
mobilisation endeavours, it was important to 
strategise a pathway and not expect miracles. 

From all accounts, particularly conversations with 
the Community Action Networks (CANs) and other 
community-based organisations, data still matters 
and the catchphrase, “Data is a human right!” still 
holds.  There is agreement among social justice 
organisations that providing low cost access to data 
is an area of focus that requires collaboration among 
nonprofi ts, community-based organisations and 
philanthropy, and that a strong case for support needs 
to be developed and negotiated with mobile networks.

Community philanthropy

The pandemic has led to the growth of grassroots 
organisations and communities working in tandem 
to keep people safe, fed and housed. In an opinion 
editorial, Inyathelo discussed how Covid-19 has 

The pandemic has led to the growth 
of grassroots organisations and 
communities working in tandem to keep 
people safe, fed and housed.

https://ipa-sa.org.za/download/aspihe-report-2018-annual-survey-of-philanthropy-in-higher-education/
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Today’s organisations can no longer operate as they 
did in the 20th century. The 20th century was a time 
when organisations consumed resources faster 
than nature could regenerate them and came to be 
mistrusted by the very people they were established 
to serve, society. The 21st century has to be one of 
sustainable development and the generation of value 
creation, rather than value erosion, for the economy, 
society and the natural environment. For all three 
are linked: they are inherently inter-connected with 
society entirely dependent on the natural environment 
for its existence.  

Non-profi t organisations are not exempt from this. 
Indeed, non-profi t organisations play a vital role in 
practising, promoting and living out this principle. 
These organisations are directed and overseen by 
governing bodies which are comprised, in the majority, 
of volunteers – people who accept accountability for 
the organisation, and responsibility for every aspect 
of the organisation, for no fi nancial compensation. 
The culture, behaviour and performance of the entire 
organisation depend on the governing body, depend 
on their tone from the top. They need to be motivated, 
skilled and act in the best interest of the organisation 
in knowing and fulfi lling their fi duciary duties.

The Healthy Company by Mervyn King and Leigh 
Roberts, Juta 2021, provides guidance to 
organisations and their governing bodies. It is a 
handbook for 21st century organisations and their 
governing bodies – a useful tool and reference. The 
book guides governing bodies on key questions that 
they should consider. These questions are formulated 
to guide governing bodies such that they are able to 
demonstrate their accountability  by making decisions 
in the best interests of the long-term health of the 
organisation they are charged with. When making 
decisions, governing bodies should continually 
evaluate whether their decisions will achieve the four 
governance outcomes as indicated by King IV, (The 
King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa 2016, Institute of Directors in South Africa): 

 Ethical culture
 Good performance
 Eff ective control
 Legitimacy.

Governing bodies should also be mindful of the 
business judgement rule. This rule requires governing 
body members to honestly apply their minds when 
making business judgement calls. Several conditions 
are necessary in this regard and include: the member 
needs to have had no confl ict of interest when making 
the call; they need to have had all the information 
necessary to make the call; and their decision 
needs to have been a rational decision, within the 
circumstances, at the time. 

Key decision-making conditions for governing body 
members include:

 Information: Ensuring that all necessary 
information is available to them and this 
information is accurate and timely;

 Rational: Understanding whether the decision they are 
proposing is rational, given all the information available;

 Stakeholders: Ensuring that stakeholder needs, 
wants and expectations have been considered 
and any associated communication will be clear, 
concise, understandable and transparent; and

 Confl ict of Interest: Understanding whether they 
personally are facing any confl icts of interest, 
whether real or perceived, when making a decision.

Mervyn King and Leigh Roberts point out that “the 
foundation of all this is intellectual honesty”. 
A video of Mervyn King talking on the concept of 
intellectual honesty is available free of charge on the 
Good Governance Academy’s Community portal. A print 
copy of The Healthy Company can be purchased directly 
from Juta, Amazon or The Book Depository and the 
eBook can be purchased from Juta or van Schaik.

K E Y  C O N S I D E R AT I O N S  F O R 
N P O  G O V E R N I N G  B O D I E S

Leigh Roberts
CEO, Integrated Reporting Committee of South Africa, 
and the Good Governance Academy
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SANITISE
YOUR HANDS
REGULARLY

PREVENT THE SPREAD

When facing an unprecedented challenge where there is no blueprint or 
roadmap to the solution, it becomes important to remain focused on the 
vision, mission, values and purpose of the organisation.  
Y A S M I N A  F R A N C K E ,  CEO, The South African National Zakáh Fund 
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One month into Inyathelo’s new fi nancial year, South 
Africa went into a hard lockdown. The operations team 
was immediately confronted with several challenges, 
which included: 

1. Facilities management;
2. The development of a work from home capability, 

particularly for staff  whose key roles and 
responsibilities were linked to on-site support;

3. Managing tenants and the impact of lockdown on 
their fi nances and ability to pay rents;

4. Finding ways in which the Inyathelo sustainability 
hub could provide an online service to the 
nonprofi t sector; and

5. Developing the technological capability that would 
allow a smooth transitioning of our programming 
function to a virtual platform.

To provide context to these challenges, Inyathelo had 
in 2014 realised its dream of establishing a one-
of-a-kind, well-resourced hub in Southern Africa, 
supporting organisations and learning institutions on 
their journey to achieve fi nancial sustainability and 
resilience. This hub was suddenly at risk of not being 
utilised with the vigour and intention envisaged by the 
founders, governing body, staff  and stakeholders. How 
was Inyathelo to continue its well-rounded off ering of 
convening around important sector topics, as well as 
providing a busy calendar of workshops, training, and 
networking? Fortunately, with the strong support of 
the board, and dedication and resourcefulness from 
the staff , Inyathelo swiftly took measures to address 
these challenges.

The team began exploring cost-eff ective solutions 
to ensure that the non-profi t sector stakeholders 
could access the Inyathelo resources virtually. Staff  
were equipped with the necessary hardware to work 
from home. The shift to a cloud-based system was 
seamless, although there were obstacles to be 
overcome. These included a lack of the most up to 
date hardware to handle cloud-based teleworking, 
coupled with the realisation that Inyathelo resources 
were not all available digitally.  To ensure full 
compliance with Covid-19 regulations, Inyathelo 
purchased all the required personal protection 
equipment (PPE), which included sanitizer stands 
and desk screens. Health and safety training was 
compulsory for the Inyathelo team and off ered to 
tenant representatives, despite not having a budget 
line item to cover these unplanned costs. 

Inyathelo established and maintained a regular 
communications platform with all staff  and tenants, 
until the offi  ces were re-opened to those who could 
return. We acknowledged that our non-profi t tenants 
were experiencing challenges too, with limited budgets 
due to donors redirecting their support to front line 
relief work and the provision of PPE. We understood 
their struggles and agreed to reduce their monthly 
rental fees as a form of relief. Over time the event and 
conferencing space was utilised for virtual webinars 
via our Zoom platform. We put in tremendous eff ort 
to generate a demand for online events and training 
sessions. This proved to be both an exciting and 
successful learning curve, and we continued to attract 
growing interest in our virtual off erings.

O P E R AT I O N S  O V E R V I E W

Feryal Domingo
Operations Director, Inyathelo

With the strong support of the board, and 
dedication and resourcefulness from the 
staff , Inyathelo swiftly took measures 
to address the challenges faced by 
Covid-19 and the hard lockdown.



46

A
 Y

E
A

R
 IN

 R
E

V
IE

W

knowledge and participate in areas of interest when 
invited by other organisations and institutions. An 
Inyathelo trustee, a professional life coach, off ered 
mental health support if needed. There was a strong 
feeling of camaraderie and caring in the sector during 
this diffi  cult time.

Funding Finder

The current fi nancial year has seen a decrease in the 
number of subscribers due to fi nancial constraints 
faced by the sector in the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
income received from the sale of Funding Finder 
for the 2020-2021 fi nancial year amounted to R54 
424.25 compared to R69 115 the previous year. 

Figure 1 provides an overview of Funding Finder 
subscribers for the 2020-2021 fi nancial year, in 
comparison with the 2019-2020 fi nancial year. It 
refl ects that most Funding Finder subscribers paid in 
February and March. We have established over time that 
this trend is due to nonprofi t organisations spending 
their budget before the end of the fi nancial year.

Both the Funding Finder users and website visitors 
are infl uenced by other activities such as the number 
of workshops we host, mail-out newsletters, radio 
interviews and media articles, and more recently the 
Covid-19 resource page.

Inyathelo websites in a Covid-19 context

Enhancing Inyathelo’s websites’ off erings, the 
Covid-19 page was launched in April 2020 to support 
the civil society sector with information and resources 
during these diffi  cult times. This clearly met a need. 
During the launch week, 20-26 April, the Covid-19 
resource page attracted 1897 page views. This is 
the maximum number of page views we have ever 
attracted per week (See Figure 2). 
 
The total number of page views went up by 89% from 
20 815 page views during the 2019-2020 fi nancial 
year, to 39 096 in the 2020-2021 fi nancial year. On 
average we had 3258 page views per month. Funding 
opportunities is the most visited category, accounting 
for 34% of the page views (See Figure 3).

Inyathelo main website and governance website:
The Inyathelo main website and governance website 
have remained stable. Apart from the number of users 
that access our websites, there have been changes 

Communications

We developed the Covid-19 web portal to provide 
up-to-date information on funding and other relevant 
issues impacting higher education, philanthropy, and 
non-profi ts. We launched this in April 2020 to support 
the NPO sector by sharing information and resources 
available during these diffi  cult times. 

Inyathelo also utilised both traditional and social media 
to add its voice to critical topics aff ecting the sector 
during the pandemic. These interventions drew on the 
multiple resources built up in the Inyathelo resource 
centre to bring messages of hope and practical advice. 
Radio, TV, online and print media coverage generated 
AVE value (editorial calculated on the basis of paid-for 
advertising) worth nearly R 5,1million with potential 
reach of 33 495 473 listeners, readers, and viewers. 
Digital media too focused on curating news, advice and 
resources, as well as sharing Inyathelo’s own writings, 
resources and service off erings.

Technology

One of the biggest challenges was to create and 
maintain staff  connectedness while working from 
home, so we put a communications protocol in place. 
This included convening regular check-ins with staff , 
and sharing the workload and research as we sought 
new ways of working. This was not always easy, given 
variable bandwidth, but a can-do attitude prevailed. 
Staff  took on additional work, which expanded their 
skills sets. They took advantage of the many webinars 
on off er, signing up for on-line sessions to grow their 

The event and conferencing space was 
utilised for virtual webinars via our 
Zoom platform.
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Key Operations interventions in Covid-19 

 Staff  wellness and support – ensuring that the 
Inyathelo team had the necessary support and care 
while teleworking.

 Facility/building management – maintenance, 
health and safety, adherence to Covid-19 
regulations and wheelchair access.

 Tenant support – access rights to the offi  ce when 
working remotely, tenant compliance with Covid-19 
regulations, IT support and revising rental agreements.

 Web security and technology – ensuring that all 
staff  were equipped for remote working, liaising 
with service provider on internet security and needs 
and researching the most eff ective ways to support 
staff  with data.

 Scheduling contact time within the organisation – 
ensuring a relevant and up-to-date work plan, with 
the operations and senior management teams, the 
Inyathelo board, and all staff . 

 Establishing standard operating procedures for 
running webinars – running a pilot webinar as a test 
case by using the research gathered on data and 
technology to assist clients.

 Development of the Covid-19 web portal – 
updating clients on funding and issues impacting 
higher education, philanthropy, and non-profi ts.

 Reviewing ASK Inyathelo – commissioning a review 
of ASK Inyathelo with a view to updating the ASK 
portal, as the Covid-19 portal had been added to it.

 Funding Finder – continuously ensuring information 
integrity of the Funding Finder database.

 Media and communications – maintaining a high 
level of voice and visibility of Inyathelo, including 
social media. 

 Developing a digital fundraising campaign – testing 
the material we developed, while raising funds to 
support nonprofi ts in need of data.

 Rental, events and conferencing management 
– ensuring the safety of the meetings space, and 
generating interest in the offi  ce and parking rentals 
and venue hire.

 Resource centre – maintaining and keeping sound 
records of resources.

on the back end. Our website hosting provider 
(Hetzner) off ered the latest stable versions of PHP 
programming language that are supported by Debian. 
They encouraged everyone to upgrade from the 
current version (7.3) to the new stable versions (7.4 
or 8). The new version has the latest security updates 
and improved website loading speed. 

Going forward, we are looking at possibilities to 
revamp the Funding Finder database to improve its 
usability, to attract more traffi  c and subscribers.

Offi  ce rental and venue hire

The advent of Covid-19 impacted offi  ce and parking 
rentals, due to the lockdown protocols. Inyathelo 
demonstrated solidarity with the sector by reducing 
the monthly rental for tenants, and subsequent 
contract renewals were negotiated at much reduced 
rates. Offi  ce rental generated the sum of R653 
882.74. Parking rental reduced signifi cantly due to 
teleworking and generated the sum of R102 402.06. 
The congregation of people was limited, which 
resulted in cancellation of conference bookings. 
Venue hire generated the sum of R136 675.00. 
In conclusion, in the face of the many challenges 
brought about by the lockdown, Inyathelo showed 
fortitude and adaptability in its internal operations, 
and was soon positioned to continue supporting its 
stakeholders through its learnings and resources.

To ensure full compliance with Covid-19 
regulations, Inyathelo purchased all the 
required personal protection equipment.
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Funding FinderCommunications

Offi  ce rental and venue hire
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Figure 1: Funding Finder Subscribers

Figure 2: Ask Portal Statistics

Figure 3: Website Views
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Traditional media

Inyathelo generated over R5 million rands’ worth of 
editorial coverage in 2020/2021, calculated on what 
it would have cost had the organisation paid for this 
print, broadcast and online exposure. This coverage 
totalled a potential reach of 33 495 473 listeners, 
readers and viewers.

Coverage was generated mainly through media 
releases and opinion articles, resulting in online and 
print coverage, and requests for radio and television 
interviews. Topics included but were not limited to:

NPO sector trends
Participation in the annual BizCommunity #BizTrends 
report, discussing likely trends such as the 
strengthening of NPO skills and processes.

U.S. CARES Act
Informing readers of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security Act, passed by the U.S. Congress 
in March.

Searching for the Summit
Daily Maverick opinion editorial addressing the 
planned Social Sector Summit, and the lack of 
transparency regarding its organisation and criteria 
for inviting delegates. 

Annual Survey of Philanthropy in Higher 
Education (ASPIHE)
Research results showing a R1.91 billion boost in 
philanthropic and SETA funding for 11 SA universities.
Business Brief article: Highlighting the role of Board 
members and providing clarity on how Board and 
management roles diff er.

#KeepConnecting data fundraising campaign
Launch of a digital fundraising campaign for 
fi nancially-strapped NPOs.

Navigating the coronavirus pandemic
Several articles, on topics such as:
 The importance of the ten elements of Advancement;
 Handy hints for hot desking;
 Tips for nonprofi ts on fi nding a funder; and
 Bizcommunity #LockdownLessons:  Participation 

in a series refl ecting sectoral and organisational 
responses to the lockdown.

V O I C E  A N D  V I S I B I L I T Y

Feryal Domingo
Operations Director, Inyathelo

Inyathelo Strategic Communications 

Over the past ten years, Inyathelo has 
solidifi ed its online presence with a 
steady and increasing growth of followers 
across social media platforms.

Annual Survey of Philanthropy
in Higher Education
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The main sources for the information posted:
 Articles generated by Inyathelo: Blog posts, articles 

from Ask Inyathelo, and advertising of Inyathelo 
publications, guides, and downloads available on 
our website.

 Local news articles of interest to NPOs and about 
NPOs making a diff erence.

 International tertiary education sites like University 
World News.

 Articles by respected nonprofi t and philanthropic 
organisations world-wide, off ering advice on a 
variety of topics applicable to nonprofi ts. 

 Sharing and retweeting information articles 
published by local nonprofi ts directly  – supporting 
their events, and putting special focus on cause 
awareness days/months.

 Retweets of those that show support to the sector, 
like Good Things Guy and Mail & Guardian.

What has been most popular
 Articles written by Inyathelo staff  have been most 

popular. These are typically also published online 
in publications like BizCommunity and the Daily 
Maverick, and sharing them on our social media gives 
us a high reach and engagement for this content. 

 Higher Education articles (with a particular interest 
in articles about funding).

 Ask Inyathelo articles and other articles that provide 
advice to nonprofi ts.

 The #KeepConnecting campaign. 

Looking ahead

Our social media helps us gauge interest in particular 
areas, and allows us to shape our content to 
meet the needs of our followers. While our online 
communications will always dovetail with Inyathelo’s 
overall strategic focus areas, two areas have regularly 
generated specifi c focus online:
 Articles about health and wellness for 
 nonprofi t staff ;
 Articles about working remotely and coping with 

specifi c challenges caused by the pandemic. 

These are areas we will continue to curate resources 
around, in addition to our regular content framework 
built around philanthropy, higher education, and the 
‘building blocks of advancement’.

Digital Media

Over the past ten years, Inyathelo has solidifi ed 
its online presence with a steady and increasing 
growth of followers across Facebook, Twitter, and, 
more recently, LinkedIn. The content focuses on two 
areas: Curating news, advice and resources for the 
South African nonprofi t sector from the web and 
social media; and sharing Inyathelo’s own writings, 
resources and service off erings. 

The main themes covered across all platforms were:
 Nonprofi t advice on various applicable topics 

including challenges to the sector caused by 
the Covid-19 pandemic, and sharing the link to 
Inyathelo’s Covid-19 portal that was developed on 
the Ask Inyathelo website.

 Philanthropy – both local and international 
 Higher Education – with an emphasis on funding in 

the sector, where possible.
 Info on events and webinars taking place within the 

nonprofi t sector that could be relevant or useful to 
(mainly) South African NPOs.

 Articles relating to relevant cause awareness days 
or months happening through the year.

 Articles relevant to the NPO sector like gender-
based violence, food insecurity, education, early 
childhood development and, most recently, the call 
for a basic income grant.

 Articles focusing on self-care and burnout prevention.

3796 Facebook followers

7420 Twitter followers

394 LinkedIn viewers
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LET’S GET
VACCINATED 

PROTECT OUR COMMUNITIES

While the pandemic has exposed fault lines globally, nationally and at a 
community level, it has also shown our adaptability and resilience. It has 
helped us to forge new bonds of solidarity across our divided societies.
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As I write this, Simone Biles, the most decorated 
gymnast of all time, has withdrawn from the 
Olympics to focus on her mental health because 
of something gymnasts describe as ‘twisties’, 
meaning they are dangerously no longer able to fi nd 
themselves as they perform their acrobatics in the 
air. This becomes a very precarious and (in some 
cases) life threatening predicament.

During the 2020 crisis, the nonprofi t sector stepped 
up (as they always do) to serve, feed, shelter and 
nurture, doing what they do best. However, as 
nonprofi t fi nancial practitioners, we also faced our 
own kind of ‘twisties’. We questioned how we were 
functioning and performing outside of normally 
acceptable sustainability principles and, perhaps 
more importantly, how would some survive and 
emerge from this crisis fi nancially stronger and 
resilient. As fi nancial professionals we were also 
trying to fi nd ourselves.

The term VUCA,  meaning a V-volatile, U-uncertain, 
C-complex and A-ambiguous world, is increasingly 
referenced to try and provide a framework for the 
nature of the challenges we are facing in these 
dynamically changing times.

With the onset of national lockdown in March 2020, 
Inyathelo was submerged into a diff erent mindset. 
We needed to be open, fl exible and fi nd ways to 

be able to streamline our fi nancial record keeping 
and processes so that we could work remotely and 
proceed with our annual external audit. While we knew 
that transitioning to online systems was something 
we wanted to do, the impetus for this was thrust upon 
us in the pandemic environment.

During the onset of the crisis, Inyathelo looked very 
stringently inward at its fi nancial position; where 
are we now, where do we want to be and how will we 
get there. Scenario analysis as led by our Finance 
Sub-Committee and Board (which both became 
very involved and met at some point almost weekly), 
provided an approach to assist in navigating fi nancial 
planning challenges. We consistently assessed and 
reassessed our fi nancial position and shortfalls, and 
determined how we could maneuver the situation in 
the best way by looking at both sides of the equation; 
reducing costs and increasing income.

Each year, the Inyathelo Finance Sub-Committee 
combs through the fi nancial statements to make 
disclosure adjustments to improve fi nancial 
reporting. This year, they have decided to additionally 
disclose the value of Inyathelo’s building assets in 
a note to the assets. They have also presented the 
reserve fi gure in two distinct categories: a fi nancial 
sustainability reserve and an operational reserve, in 
order to demonstrate the metrics of a liquidity and 
sustainability approach more clearly.

F I N A N C E  O V E R V I E W

Soraya Joonas
Finance Director, Inyathelo

During the onset of the crisis, Inyathelo 
looked very stringently inward at its 
fi nancial position; where are we now, 
where do we want to be and how will 
we get there.
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story of Inyathelo is a case in point of how a strong 
fi nancial sustainability strategy can contribute to 
performance during times of crises. In conclusion, 
as the fi nance offi  ce at Inyathelo not only holds the 
fi nancial backbone of Inyathelo, but also imparts 
learnings and capacity building within the sector, we 
have been involved over the past year in sharing and 
supporting our peers in respective fi nance journeys.

We wish the civil society organisations that we work 
with good financial health and resilience over what 
is likely to be a recovery and reinvention period.  
We will journey with you through this recalibration 
during the manifestation of this emerging VUCA 
world and, together, we hope to overcome our own 
financial ‘twisties’.

In the latest fi nancial statements the defi cit has 
been brought down from R5.2million to R1.4million. 
To fund the accounting ‘defi cit’ we have used income 
received in previous years i.e. grant income and 
a substantial amount of interest income that we 
had historically saved and ploughed back into the 
organisation’s reserves.  

The signifi cant reduction in defi cit is mostly attributed 
to investment returns. The Board, advised by the 
Finance Sub-Committee and fi nancial investors, 
adopted a closely guarded fi nancial investment 
and reserve strategy aiming to leverage on the best 
growth and savings. Investment balances were 
monitored weekly and in December 2020, our Board 
resolved to divest from direct fossil fuel, alcohol and 
tobacco holdings congruent with ethical investing in 
our space. These securities were sold off  during the 
year and fortunately losses were not incurred. 

While a defi cit is not a holistic way of assessing the 
performance of a nonprofi t, as nonprofi t fi nancials are 
not standardized in how they report their income, we 
are hoping that these results set us on a trajectory 
of narrowing the gap in shortfalls. The fi nancial 

We wish the civil society organisations 
that we work with good fi nancial health 
and resilience over what is likely to be a 
recovery and reinvention period. 
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I N D E X

The reports and statements set out below comprise 
the annual fi nancial statements presented to the 
trustees:

Independent Auditor’s Report 56
Trustees’ Responsibilities and Approval 58
Trustees’ Report 59
Statement of Financial Position 60
Statement of Comprehensive Income 61
Statement of Changes in Equity 62
Statement of Cash Flows 63
Accounting Policies 64
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 65 - 67

The following supplementary information does not 
form part of the annual fi nancial statements and is 
unaudited:

Detailed Income Statement 68

INDEX PAGE

As the fi nance offi  ce at 
Inyathelo, we not only hold 
the fi nancial backbone 
of Inyathelo, but also 
impart  learnings and 
capacity building within 
the sector. We have been 
involved over the past year 
in sharing and supporting 
our peers in respective 
fi nance journeys.
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Opinion

We have audited the annual fi nancial statements of 
The South African Institute for Advancement Trust 
(the trust) set out on pages 60 to 67, which comprise 
the statement of fi nancial position as at 28 February 
2021, and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash fl ows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
annual fi nancial statements, including a summary 
of signifi cant accounting policies. In our opinion, 
the annual fi nancial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the fi nancial position of The South 
African Institute for Advancement Trust as at 
28 February 2021, and its fi nancial performance and 
cash fl ows for the year then ended in accordance with 
the trust’s accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the company in accordance 
with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 
(IRBA Code) and other independence requirements 
applicable to performing audits of fi nancial 
statements in South Africa. We have fulfi lled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical 
requirements applicable to performing audits in 
South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards). We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi  cient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter - impact of the outbreak of 
COVID-19 on the annual fi nancial statements 
and Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to note 1 to the fi nancial 
statements, which describes the basis of accounting. 

The fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the trust’s own accounting policies to satisfy the 
fi nancial information needs of the trust’s trustees. As 
a result, the fi nancial statements may not be suitable 
for another purpose. Our opinion is not modifi ed in 
respect of this matter.

In forming our conclusion on the annual fi nancial 
statements, which is not modifi ed, we draw attention 
to the trustees’ view on the impact of Covid-19 as 
disclosed in the trustees’ report, and the application 
of the going concern basis of preparation in note 15 
to the annual fi nancial statements and the non-
adjusting subsequent event note 16 to the annual 
fi nancial statements. Although the company cannot 
estimate the future length or gravity of the impact of 
the Covid-19 outbreak at this time, if the pandemic 
continues, it may have a material adverse eff ect on 
the company’s results of future operations, fi nancial 
position and liquidity during the next fi nancial period.

Management will continue to assess the fi nancial 
impact of Covid-19 and its impact on the company’s 
fi nancial condition and liquidity.
 
Other information

The trustees are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled “The South African 
Institute for Advancement Trust annual fi nancial 
statements for the year ended 28 February 2021”, 
which includes the Trustees’ Report and the 
supplementary information presented on page 64. 
The other information does not include the annual 
fi nancial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the annual fi nancial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual fi nancial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with 
the annual fi nancial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T
TO THE TRUSTEES OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR ADVANCEMENT TRUST 
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materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed on the other information obtained prior 
to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the trustees for the Annual 
Financial Statements

The trustees are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the annual fi nancial statements in 
accordance with the basis of accounting described in 
note 1 for determining that the basis of preparation is 
acceptable in the circumstances and for such internal 
control as the trustees determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual fi nancial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual fi nancial statements, the 
trustees are responsible for assessing the trust’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the trustees either intend to liquidate the trust or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
Annual Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the annual fi nancial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to infl uence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual 
fi nancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the annual fi nancial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is suffi  cient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
eff ectiveness of the trust’s internal control.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast signifi cant doubt on the 
trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the annual fi nancial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the trust to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of  
accounting estimates and relating disclosures 
made by the trustees.

We communicate with the trustees regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and signifi cant audit fi ndings, including any 
signifi cant defi ciencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

Mazars
THEEBAN GANGEN 

REGISTERED AUDITOR 

11 JUNE 2021

CAPE TOWN
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THE SOUTH AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR ADVANCEMENT TRUST 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

The trustees are required to maintain adequate 
accounting records and are responsible for the 
content and integrity of the annual fi nancial 
statements and related fi nancial information included 
in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure 
that the annual fi nancial statements fairly present 
the state of aff airs of the trust as at the end of the 
fi nancial year and the results of its operations and 
cash fl ows for the period then ended, in conformity 
with the trust’s accounting policies. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the annual fi nancial statements.

The annual fi nancial statements are prepared in 
accordance with the trust’s accounting policies and 
are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates.

The trustees acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal fi nancial 
control established by the trust and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the trustees to 
meet these responsibilities, the trustees set 
standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost eff ective manner. 
The standards include the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly defi ned framework, 
eff ective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk. These controls are monitored throughout 
the trust and all employees are required to maintain 
the highest ethical standards in ensuring the 
trust’s business is conducted in a manner that in 
all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 
The focus of risk management in the trust is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring 
all known forms of risk across the trust. While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 
trust endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 

appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and 
ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The trustees are of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of internal control provides 
reasonable assurance that the fi nancial records may 
be relied on for the preparation of the annual fi nancial 
statements. However, any system of internal fi nancial 
control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The trustees have reviewed the trust’s cash fl ow 
forecast for the year to 28 February 2022 and, in the 
light of this review and the current fi nancial position, 
they are satisfi ed that the trust has or has access 
to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for 
independently auditing and reporting on the trust’s 
annual fi nancial statements. The annual fi nancial 
statements have been examined by the trust’s 
external auditors and their report is presented on 
pages 56 and 57.

The annual fi nancial statements set out on pages 60 
to 67, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the trustees on 11 June 2021   
and were signed on its behalf by:

Dr. R Ally 
CHAIRPERSON 

I Noko 
TREASURER
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T R U S T E E S ’  R E P O R T
THE SOUTH AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR ADVANCEMENT TRUST 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

The trustees submit their report for the year ended 28 
February 2021.

1. Review of activities

The operating result and state of aff airs of the trust 
are fully set out in the attached annual fi nancial 
statements and do not in our opinion require any 
further comment. The trust carries on the business 
of developing and training similar organisations to 
obtain funding.

2. Trustees

The trustees of the trust during the year and to the 
date of this report are as follows:

TRUSTEES

Dr. R Ally (Chairperson)
N Dlamini
I Noko (Treasurer)
M Abrahams (Secretary) 
V Manuel
T Winslow Deceased: 26 January 2021

3. Events after the reporting period

The trustees are not aware of any material event 
which occurred after the reporting date and up 
to the date of this report aff ecting these fi nancial 
statements other than the Covid-19 pandemic which 
is discussed below.

The new novel corona virus has had a severe impact 
on the economy and subsequently on the trust. The 
trust generates income through donations, grants, 
leasing of the building to tenants and conferencing, 
consulting and interest and dividends through their 
investments.

The trustees along with management are constantly 
monitoring and assessing the impact that Covid-19 
might have on their operations.

4. Going concern

The trustees believe that the trust has adequate 
fi nancial resources to continue in operation for 
the foreseeable future and accordingly the annual 
fi nancial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. The trustees have satisfi ed themselves 
that the trust is in a sound fi nancial position to meet 
its foreseeable cash requirements.

Due to the impact of Covid-19 on the economy, the 
trust has also been severely impacted. The annual 
cost obligation of the trust is R7,500,000 based on 
prepared budget forecasts to date. Based on this, the 
shortfall is estimated to be R3,190,000. The trustees 
can cover this shortfall through interest and cost 
recoveries and could make withdrawal from reserves 
which at most would represent 19% of liquid cash 
reserves, however there is an aggressive resource 
mobilization plan currently underway to raise funds 
to help diminish this shortfall. Through this it could 
be seen that the trust will be able to cover their 
necessary expenses in the foreseeable future.

Based on the above and the reserves that the trust 
has access to, the trustees believe the trust not to 
have any going concern issues and will continue to be 
able to operate in the foreseeable future.

5. Auditors

Mazars will continue in offi  ce for the next 
fi nancial year.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

Assets   
 
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 2 - -
Investments 3 33,969,940 30,751,222

  33,969,940 30,751,222

Current Assets
Trade and other receivables 4 17,176 194,146
Cash and cash equivalents 5 18,344,286 22,678,870

  18,361,462 22,873,016

Total Assets  52,331,402 53,624,238

Equity and Liabilities   
 
Equity
Trust capital 6 100 100
General reserve 7 51,676,099 52,601,688
Designated funds  306,171 787,784

  51,982,370 53,389,572

Liabilities    
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 8 349,032 234,666

Total Equity and Liabilities  52,331,402 53,624,238

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2021 2020

Note 1: The institute currently owns an income generating property at a book value of R16,160,830.
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S TAT E M E N T  O F 
C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E
THE SOUTH AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR ADVANCEMENT TRUST 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

Note 1: Grant funding received in previous fi nancial years but for programme work carried out in the 2020-21 fi nancial year, also assisted in 

funding the defi cit for the 2020-2021 fi nancial year.

Note 2: No new grant funding was received during the 2020-21 fi nancial year.

Revenue 9 31,050 -
Other income 10 3,393,957 4,476,610
Operating expenses  (7,150,798) (8,168,222)
Operating defi cit  (3,725,791) (3,691,612)
Fair value adjustments 11 2,794,084 (1,895,022)
Profi t (loss) on disposal of investments  (475,495) 381,647
Defi cit for the year  (1,407,202) (5,204,987)
Other comprehensive income  - -

Total comprehensive defi cit for the year  (1,407,202) (5,204,987)

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2021 2020
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

FIGURES IN RAND TRUST CAPITAL GENERAL 
RESERVES

DESIGNATED 
FUNDS

TOTAL 
EQUITY

Balance at 01 March 2019 100 55,480,341 3,114,118 58,594,559
Defi cit for the year - - (5,204,987) (5,204,987)
Transfer from general reserve - (2,878,653)  2,878,653 -
Balance at 01 March 2020 100 52,601,688 787,784 53,389,572
Defi cit for the year - - (1,407,202) (1,407,202)
Transfer from general reserve - (925,589) 925,589 -
Balance at 28 February 2021 100 51,676,099 306,171 51,982,370
Notes 6 7   
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 12 (5,212,029) (6,660,923)
Interest income  1,238,271 2,406,542
Dividends received  555,185 826,089

Net cash from operating activities  (3,418,573) (3,428,292)

Cash fl ows from investing activities   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 (15,882) (78,797)
Proceeds on disposal of investments  4,715,289 2,656,821
Purchase of investments  (5,615,418) (4,452,738)

Net cash from investing activities  (916,011) (1,874,714)

Total cash movement for the year  (4,334,584) (5,303,006)
Cash at the beginning of the year  22,678,870 27,981,876

Total cash at end of the year 5 18,344,286 22,678,870

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2021 2020
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A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

1. Presentation of annual fi nancial statements

The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the trust’s accounting policies as 
described below. The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared using a combination of the historical 
cost basis and fair value basis of accounting. They are presented in South African Rands. These accounting 
policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently written off  in full in the year in 
which it is brought into use. All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and subsequently written 
off  in full in the year of purchase except for land and buildings which is not depreciated in the year of purchase.

1.2 Investments
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis when investments are acquired and 
disposed of. Investments are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value through surplus or 
defi cit for the year. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investments are included in 
surplus or defi cits for the year.

1.3 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount.

1.4 Leases
A lease is classifi ed as a fi nance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are operating leases.

 Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense as it is due.

1.5 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the eff ective interest method.

1.6 Revenue
Revenue is recognised once donations and grants have been received. Interest is recognised, in surplus 
or defi cit, using the eff ective interest method. Dividends are recognised, in surplus or defi cit, when the 
trust’s right to receive payment has been established.

1.7 Other income
Other income is derived from facilitation fees, consulting work, income from workshops, cost recoveries, 
Funding Finder database and hub conferencing and rental activities. This is recognised in surplus or 
defi cit to the extent that the trust has transferred the signifi cant risk and rewards of ownership of goods 
to the buyer or provided the services under an agreement.

1.8 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, bank balances and short-term deposits. These are 
initially and subsequently recorded on the historical cost basis.

1.9 General reserve
  The distributable reserve represents funds that are restricted and allocated for programme use. The 

general reserve comprises the investment portfolio and cash reserves in the investment portfolio and 
includes a portion of cash and cash equivalents.

1.10 Employee benefi ts
  Short-term employee benefi ts
  The cost of short-term employee benefi ts, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such 

as leave pay), are recognised in the period in which the related service is rendered and are not discounted.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

FIGURES IN RAND 2021 2020

2. Property, plant and equipment

Buildings 16,160,830 (16,160,830) - 16,160,830 (16,160,830) -
Audiovisual equipment 221,002 (221,002) - 221,002 (221,002) -
Furniture and fi ttings 1,918,175 (1,918,175) - 1,918,175 (1,918,175) -
Offi  ce equipment 239,819 (239,819) - 239,819 (239,819) -
Computer equipment 995,387 (995,387) - 1,015,723 (1,015,723) -
Telephone equipment 214,709 (214,709) - 214,709 (214,709) -
Total 19,749,922 (19,749,922) - 19,770,258 (19,770,258) -

  2021   2020

 COST ACCUMULATED CARRYING COST ACCUMULATED CARRYING
  DEPRECIATION/ VALUE OR DEPRECIATION/ VALUE
  LAND AND BUILDINGS  REVALUATION LAND AND BUILDINGS
  WRITE-OFF   WRITE-OFF

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2021

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2020

Computer equipment   - 15,882 (15,882) -

Furniture and fi ttings   - 3,043 (3,043) -
Offi  ce equipment   - 67,234 (67,234) -
Computer equipment   - 8,520 (8,520) -
   - 78,797 (78,797) -

At fair value through surplus or defi cit for the year
Listed shares at market value     33,969,940 30,751,222

   OPENING ADDITIONS DEPRECIATION CLOSING
   BALANCE   BALANCE
     

   OPENING ADDITIONS DEPRECIATION CLOSING
   BALANCE   BALANCE
     

3. Investments

Inyathelo operates a balanced portfolio strategy which looks to achieve total returns of infl ation plus 3-5% over a rolling 5 
year period. This strategy seeks to balance income and real capital growth objectives. The trustees believe that the strategy 
is appropriate for investors who want to see reasonable capital growth over the medium to long term, as well as earn 
reasonable income from their investment. Inyathelo also manages savings in cash reserves (governed by a Board reserve 
policy) in addition to the investment portfolio, to mitigate risk.
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FIGURES IN RAND 2021 2020

4. Trade and other receivables    
VAT  17,176 16,154
Accrued income on investments  - 177,992

  17,176 194,146

5. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand  201 4,052
Bank balances  18,344,085  22,674,818

  18,344,286 22,678,870

   
6. Trust capital

Capital account
Initial donation  100 100

7. General reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year  52,601,688 55,480,341
Movement during the year  (925,589) (2,878,653)

  51,676,099 52,601,688

Comprising:   
Sustainability reserve  34,773,702 31,684,255
Operational reserve  16,902,397 20,917,433

  51,676,099 52,601,688

8. Trade and other payables   
Accrued leave pay  234,326 169,195
Other accrued expenses  55,243 26,341
Deposits received  59,463 39,130

  349,032 234,666

9. Revenue   
Donations  31,050 -

10. Other income   
Dividends received  555,185 826,089
Interest received  1,238,271 2,406,542
Other income  1,600,501 1,243,979

  3,393,957  4,476,610
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

FIGURES IN RAND 2021 2020

11. Fair value adjustments   
Investments 2,794,084 (1,895,022)

12. Cash used in operations   
Defi cit before taxation  (1,407,202) (5,204,987)
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation 15,882 78,797
(Surplus) defi cit on sale of assets 475,495 (381,647)
Dividends received (555,185) (826,089)
Interest received (1,238,271) (2,406,542)
Fair value adjustments (2,794,084) 1,895,022
Changes in working capital: 
Trade and other receivables 176,970 130,605
Trade and other payables 114,366 53,918

  (5,212,029) (6,660,923)

13. Commitments   
Operating leases – as lessee (expense)   
Minimum lease payments due
- within one year 126,048 82,701
- in second to fi fth year inclusive 58,862 -

  184,910 82,701

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the trust for equipment. The lease escalates at 7.5% 
per annum and is negotiated for a period of 36 months.

Consulting contracts 
Minimum lease payments due
- within one year 169,144 325,296

Consulting contracts represent consulting fees payable by the trust for consulting services. The contracts are 
renewed on an annual basis at rates agreed upon between the trust and the service provider.

Rentals to be received
- within one year 563,832 69,289

14. Tax
The trust has been approved as a public benefi t organisation in terms of Section 30 of the Income Tax Act. The 
receipts and accruals of the trust are exempt from tax in terms of Section 10(1)(cN) of the Income Tax Act. No 
provision has been made for taxation as the trust has no taxable income for the year. The trust has also been 
approved as a public benefi t organisation for purposes of Section 18A(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2021

Revenue
Donations  31,050 -

Other income   
Cost recovery fees  1,600,501 1,243,979
Interest received  1,238,271 2,406,542
Dividends received  555,185 826,089
  3,393,957 4,476,610
Operating expenses   
Advertising, promotions, marketing and publications  328,039 389,983
Audit and accounting fees  218,567 212,043
Bank and portfolio management charges  295,036 299,476
Cleaning  196,664 184,986
Covid-19 contingency  69,878 -
Database  173,235 136,275
Depreciation  15,882 78,797
General expenses  9,086 12,044
Hire of equipment  55,807 80,829
Insurance  37,126 35,436
Printing, stationery, postage and offi  ce supplies  80,754 164,181
Professional and legal fees  - 71,047
Programmes and projects  418,793 803,835
Rates and levies  405,940 406,406
Repairs and maintenance  102,581 109,844
Resource centre and material  217 12,934
Salaries  4,474,825 4,551,742
Service providers and consultants  105,000 73,972
Staff  and organisational development  50,324 206,168
Telecommunication  51,655 50,486
Travel - international and local  12,035 216,473
Website development and internet  49,354 71,265
  7,150,798 8,168,222
Operating defi cit  (3,725,791) (3,691,612)
Investment income
Fair value adjustments 11 2,794,084 (1,895,022)
Profi t (loss) on disposal of investments  (475,495) 381,647
  2,318,589 (1,513,375)
Defi cit for the year  (1,407,202) (5,204,987)

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2021 2020

Note 1: Grant funding received in previous fi nancial years but for programme work carried out in the 2020-21 fi nancial year, also assisted in 

funding the defi cit for 2020-2021 fi nancial year.

Note 2: No new grant funding was received during the 2020-21 fi nancial year.
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We contribute to skills 
development and research 
that underpins sustainable 
organisations in civil society. 
Inyathelo provides high 
quality training, and supports 
collaboration, innovation and 
professionalism in resource 
mobilisation, grant seeking and 
grant management. 
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